

# An Instanton-Invariant for 3-Manifolds

#### Andreas Floer

Courant Institute, 251 Mercer Street, New York, NY 10012, USA

**Abstract.** To an oriented closed 3-dimensional manifold M with  $H_1(M, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ , we assign a  $\mathbb{Z}_8$ -graded homology group  $I_*(M)$  whose Euler characteristic is twice Casson's invariant. The definition uses a construction on the space of instantons on  $M \times \mathbb{R}$ .

#### Contents

1.	Instanton Homology											215
	1a) Introduction											215
	1b) Connections on M											218
	1c) The General Construction							,				222
2.	Local Properties of $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R} \times M)$											227
	2a) Connections on $\mathbb{R} \times M$											227
	2b) Fredholm Theory											228
	2c) Transversality											231
	2d) Transitivity											232
3.	Compactness											235
	3a) Local Convergence											235
	3b) Global Convergence											236

## 1. Instanton Homology

#### 1a) Introduction

Let M be a closed connected oriented 3-manifold. As is well known (see e.g. [He]), every 3-dimensional topological manifold carries a unique differentiable structure, so that we can consider M in either of these two categories. For the sake of brevity, we will refer to M simply as a 3-manifold.

A strong algebraic invariant of M is its fundamental group  $\pi_1(M)$ . Unfortunately, as a satisfactory description of the set 3-manifolds, the fundamental group falls short in two crucial ways: First, the classification of manifolds with isomorphic fundamental groups depends on the well known and as yet unsettled

question raised by Poincaré whether  $\pi_1(M) = (1)$  implies that  $M = S^3$ . The second problem concerns the range of  $\pi_1$ , and here, not even a good question seems to be known yet. Despite the fact that there are several constructions and presentations that are characteristic for fundamental groups of 3-manifolds, no intrinsic characterization has been given.

In defining alternative invariants for 3-manifolds, one has come to study representations of  $\pi_1(M)$  in certain nonabelian groups G. In fact, it is one of the characteristic features of  $\pi_1(M)$  as a group that the set

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(M) = \text{Hom}(\pi_1(M), G)/\text{ad}(G)$$
 (1a.1)

of equivalence classes of representations tends to be discrete (in a sense which will become more clear below). While  $\mathcal{R}(M)$  itself clearly depends only on the homotopy type of M, the corresponding flat bundles together with the differentiable structure of M may lead to topological invariants, like the Reidemeister torsion (see e.g. [RS]). Recently, Casson [C] defined a new integer valued topological invariant of M in the case where  $H_1(M, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ ; i.e. for homology 3-spheres M. It can be described as follows: Consider  $G = SU_2$ . Given a Heegard splitting  $M = M_+ \cup_S M_-$  (see e.g. [He]), one can consider  $\mathcal{R}(M)$  as the intersection of  $\mathcal{R}(M_+)$  and  $\mathcal{R}(M_-)$  in  $\mathcal{R}(S)$ . The resulting intersection number (ignoring the trivial representation) can be shown to be independent of the particular Heegard splitting. The intersection  $a \in \mathcal{R}$  is transverse if and only if the twisted cohomology  $H_a^1(M, su_2)$  vanishes. Hence if this is the case for all  $a \in \mathcal{R}$  (we then say that  $\mathcal{R}$  is regular), Casson's construction defines a sign for each  $a \in \mathcal{R}$ . The reason for the restriction to homology 3-spheres is that if  $a \in \mathcal{R}$  is reducible, i.e. if the adjoint operation  $pf SU_2$  on a in (1a.1) is not free up to the center, then a factors through a homomorphism  $\bar{a}: \pi_1(M) \to S^1$ . Hence reducible representations correspond to elements of the group  $H^1(M, S^1)$ , which is trivial for homology 3-spheres. For the same reason, we will also assume from now on that M is a homology 3-sphere. Then the set of irreducible representations of  $\pi_1(M)$  is

$$\mathcal{R}^* = \mathcal{R} - (1)$$
.

We want to define a new invariant for homology 3-spheres, which takes the form of an Abelian group  $I_*(M)$  carrying a natural grading by  $\mathbb{Z}_8$ . Casson's invariant will turn out to be one half of its Euler characteristic. Under the simplifying assumption that  $\mathcal{R}$  is regular, it can be described as follows: Following Taubes [T4], we consider the space  $\mathcal{M}$  of finite action instantons on the infinite cylinder  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  with a product metric  $1 \times \sigma$ . These are gauge equivalence classes of connections on  $\mathbb{R} \times M \times SU_2$  which have selfdual curvature tensor  $F_A$  and finite Yang Mills action  $\mathcal{A}(A) = ||F_A||_2^2$ . The first conditions means that  $F_A = *_{\sigma} F_A$ , where  $*_{\sigma}$  is the Hodge duality isomorphism with respect to  $1 \times \sigma$ . The condition of finite action forces each instanton to approach gauge equivalence classes a and b of flat connections at the ends, so that  $\mathcal{M}$  decomposes into spaces  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$  of instantons "connecting"  $a, b \in \mathcal{R}$ . It turns out that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is regular, then  $\mathcal{M}(a, b)$  is a smooth manifold whenever the  $L^2$ -adjoint of the linearized instanton equation has no solutions in  $L^2$ . Let us assume that this is the case for all of  $\mathcal{M}$ . For  $a, b \neq 1$ , the dimension of  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$  can then be computed modulo 8 as the difference of a suitably defined "relative Morse index"

$$\mu: \mathcal{R}^* \to \mathbb{Z}_8$$

between a and b. Because of the translation invariance of  $\mathbb{R} \times M$ , the lowest possible dimension of a nontrivial component of  $\mathcal{M}$  is 1. We can define an orientation on  $\mathcal{M}$  (see Sect. 2d), so that each 1-dimensional component carries a sign defined by comparing its orientation with the orientation of  $\mathbb{R}$ . In this "nondegenerate case", our invariant is defined as follows:

**Theorem 1.** Let M be a homology 3-sphere such that  $H^1_a(M, su_2) = 0$  for all  $a \in \mathcal{R}(M)$ . Moreover, let  $\sigma$  be a metric on M so that all finite action instantons are regular. Then for all  $a, b \in \mathcal{R}^*$  with  $\mu(a) - \mu(b) = 1$ ,  $\mathcal{M}(a, b)$  has finitely many one-dimensional components. If  $\langle \partial a, b \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$  is the sum over the signs of these components, and  $R_p$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{Z}_8$ , is the free Abelian group over the set  $\mathcal{R}_p = \{a \in \mathcal{R}^* \mid \mu(a) = p\}$ , then the operators

$$\partial: R_p \to R_{p-1}; \quad \partial a = \sum_{u(b)=p-1} \langle \partial a, b \rangle b$$

satisfy  $\partial \partial = 0$ . The homology

$$I_{\star}(M) = \ker \partial / \operatorname{im} \partial$$

does not depend on the choice of the metric  $\sigma$  on M.

It is conceivable that the regularity assumption on  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$  is satisfied for "generic" metrics  $\sigma$  on M, as is the case for instantons on 4-manifolds by [FU]. However, because of the translational symmetry, this is by no means immediate. We do not pursue this question here, because the possible degeneracies in the set  $\mathcal{R}$  force us to consider perturbations of the curvature equation itself, see Sects. 1b and 2c.

Theorem 1 follows from Theorem 2 in Sect. 1c. The idea behind this construction is the observation that instantons on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  can be considered as trajectories of the "gradient flow" of the Chern-Simons function

$$a(a) = \int_{M} \operatorname{tr}(\frac{1}{2} a \wedge da + \frac{1}{3} a \wedge a \wedge a)$$

on  $\mathcal{A}(M)$ . (In the integrand, the exterior derivatives are taken with respect to the matrix multiplication in  $su_2$  and tr is the trace on complex  $2 \times 2$ -matrices.) This "variational principle," though deeply rooted in the "physical origin" of instantons, has received little attention in connection with topological applications, since it does not extend to general 4-manifolds. It should not be confused with the variational theory of the Yang Mills action  $||F_A||_2^2$ , see [T4], where instantons (i.e. trajectories of our gradient flow) are minima of the action. This double variational structure even occurs in finite dimensional gradient flows; one can easily define a functional on (infinite) paths in the manifold whose minima are precisely the trajectories, and which yields the Yang Mills action when applied to our case. For this and for an explanation of the construction of Theorems 1 and 2 in finite dimensional terms, the reader is referred to the first sections of Witten's paper [W]. The "quantum mechanical" derivation of the Morse inequalities in [W1] would lead in this case to the problem of quantum field theory, which was recently considered by Witten in [W2]. In fact, Witten also discusses in quantum field theoretical terms the relation between  $I_{*}(M)$  and Donaldson's invariants [D4] on 4-manifolds, which was originally pointed out to the author by Atiyah and Donaldson, and which we will briefly describe next.

In studying compact 4-manifolds X with boundary  $\partial X = M$ , one often considers the space of instantons on the noncompact manifold  $\overline{X} := X \cup_M M \times [0, \infty)$ , see e.g. [FS, T2, Mc]. If M is a homology 3-sphere, one can define an invariant of (X, M) counting instantons (with respect to an appropriate conformal structure) labeled by the flat connections they approach at the end. The proof that the resulting element [X] of  $R_*$  satisfies  $\partial [X] = 0$  and that its class in  $I_*(M)$  is independent of the conformal structure on X is similar to the proof of Theorem 1. The general construction would result in a polynomial invariant on  $H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$  taking values in  $I_*(M)$ .

The same point of view can be applied to cobordisms W between homology 3-spheres M and N. Here, a count of instantons would define an homomorphism between  $R_*(M)$  and  $R_*(N)$  which can be shown to commute with  $\partial$ . Its degree depends on the rational homology of W; in particular it is zero for a rational homology cobordism. Moreover, it is natural with respect to compositions of cobordisms, so that  $I_*(M)$  might be considered as a functor on the category of homology 3-spheres and their cobordisms. (It is not a functor with respect to maps between 3-manifolds. Of course, diffeomorphisms of M define an automorphism of  $I_*(M)$ , which may be of independent interest.) The details are given in Sect. 1c.

As a final remark, we would like to point out a possible relation between the construction of Theorem 1 and Casson's construction. Note that for any Heegard splitting  $M = M_+ \cup_S M_-$  as above, the representation space  $\mathcal{R}(S)$  of the surface carries a symplectic structure  $\omega \in \Omega^2(\mathcal{R}(S))$ , see Goldman [G]. Moreover,  $\mathcal{R}(M_+)$ are Lagrangian submanifolds in  $\mathcal{R}(S)$ , i.e.  $\omega$  vanishes on  $\mathcal{R}(M_+)$ . Now the Lagrangian intersection theory of [F1] defines a similar (but more restrictive) situation of transversally intersecting Lagrangian submanifolds  $L_{+}$  of a symplectic manifold P a chain operator  $\partial$  on the free  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -module over the intersection set  $L_{+} \cap L_{-}$ . (The restriction to  $\mathbb{Z}_{2}$ -coefficients is not expected to be necessary here.) The matrix elements of  $\partial$  are in this case given by counting the numbers of holomorphic discs (with respect to some almost complex structure on P) whose boundary lies half in  $L_{+}$  and half in  $L_{-}$  and which therefore necessarily have "corners" at two intersection points. In fact, there exists a relation between instantons and holomorphic maps, see [At] and [D2], so that a relation between the two constructions is conceivable (an idea which I owe to M. Atiyah). However, at present none of these ideas have been carried out.

#### 1b) Connections on M

Note that for topological reasons, every principal  $SU_2$ -bundle over a 3-dimensional manifold is topologically trivial, i.e. admits the product form  $P = M \times SU_2$ . Given such a trivialization, one can identify the space of connections of Sobolev type  $L_k^p$  with the space  $\mathcal{A}_k^p = L_k^p(\Omega^1(M) \otimes su_2)$  of 1-forms on M with values in  $su_2$  in such a way that the zero element of  $\Omega^1$  corresponds to the product trivial connection on P. The gauge group of bundle isomorphisms of P can be identified with  $\mathcal{G}_k^p(M) = L_{k+1}^p(M, SU_2)$  acting on  $\mathcal{A}_k^p(M)$  by the nonlinear transformation law

$$g(a) = gag^{-1} + (dg)g^{-1}$$
. (1b.1)

We will always assume that k+1>3/p so that  $\mathcal{G}(M)$  consists of continuous maps. In fact, we will mostly work with  $\mathcal{A}(M)=\mathcal{A}_1^4(M)$  and  $\mathcal{G}(M)=\mathcal{G}_2^4(M)$ . The

quotients  $\mathscr{B}_k^p(M) = \mathscr{A}_k^p(M)/\mathscr{G}_k^p(M)$  and  $\mathscr{B}(M) = \mathscr{B}_1^4(M)$  can be considered as infinite dimensional manifolds except near those connections a for which the group

$$G_a = \{ g \in \mathcal{G} \mid g(a) = a \}$$

is larger than the center  $\mathbb{Z}_2 = \{\pm \mathrm{id}\}$  of  $\mathscr{G}$ . Such connections are called reducible. For example, the trivial connection is reducible by all constant maps  $g: M \to SU_2$ . However, the irreducible connections form an open and dense set  $\mathscr{B}^*(M)$  in  $\mathscr{B}(M)$ . The tangent spaces of  $\mathscr{B}^*(M)$  can be identified with

$$T_{La} \mathcal{B}_k^p = \left\{ \alpha \in L_k^p(\Omega^1(M) \otimes su_2) \mid d_a^* \alpha = 0 \right\}. \tag{1b.2}$$

If no confusion can arise, we will identify a with its gauge equivalence class in our notation. In (1b.2),  $d_a^*$  is the  $L^2$ -adjoint (with respect to some metric  $\sigma$  on M) of the exterior derivative  $d: \Omega^0(M) \to \Omega^1(M)$  extended to  $\Omega^*_{ad}$  by means of the connection a.

The curvature of a connection is defined as the  $su_2$ -valued 2-form

$$(F_a)_{ij} = \frac{\partial a_i}{\partial x^j} - \frac{\partial a_j}{\partial x^i} + [a_i, a_j].$$

It is gauge invariant in the sense that

$$F_{a(a)} = gF_ag^{-1}$$
. (1b.3)

It follows that the set of flat connections, i.e. the set of all a for which  $F_a = 0$ , is invariant under  $\mathcal{G}$ . Moreover, it is well known that we have an identification

$$\mathcal{R} = \{ [a] \in \mathcal{B} \mid F_a = 0 \}.$$

In fact, for a flat connection, the holonomy along a loop depends only on the homotopy class of the loop and defines an element of  $\mathscr{R}$ . Conversely, consider the universal covering  $\widetilde{M}$  of M. Then if we extend the operation of  $\pi_1(M)$  on  $\widetilde{M}$  to  $\widetilde{M} \times \mathbb{C}^2$  by means of a representation  $\pi_1(M) \to SU_2$ , the quotient  $(\widetilde{M} \times \mathbb{C}^2)/\pi_1(M)$  is a bundle over M which inherits a flat connection from the trivial connection on  $\widetilde{M} \times \mathbb{C}^2$ . Note that we can convert the assignment  $a \mapsto F_a$  into a vector field on the infinite dimensional manifold  $\mathscr{B}^*(M)$ : Given a metric  $\sigma$  on M, one defines the Hodge duality isomorphism  $*_{\sigma}: \Omega^p(M) \to \Omega^{3-p}(M)$ . Extending it trivially to the  $su_2$ -factor, we define

$$f_{\sigma}(a) = *F_a \in \Omega^1(M) \otimes su_2$$
.

Since  $f_a$  is gauge invariant and since it follows from the Bianchi identity  $d_a F_a = 0$  that

$$d*_{f}(a) = *d_a*(*F_a) = *d_aF_a = 0,$$
(1b.4)

we have  $f_{\sigma}(a) \in T_{[a]} \mathcal{B}_{k-1}^p(M)$ . Over  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}_1^4(M)$ , it is a section of the bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  with fiber

$$\mathcal{L}_a = L(a) = T_{[a]} \mathcal{B}_0^4(M)$$
.

It was observed by Taubes [T3] that Casson's invariant can be interpreted as the "Euler characteristic" of  $f_{\sigma}$  in the following way. The linearization  $Df_{\sigma}(a) = *_{\sigma} d_a : T_{[a]} \mathcal{B} \to L_a$  can be combined with a gauge condition in (1b.2) to an elliptic operator on the bundle  $\Omega_{ad} = (\Omega^0 \oplus \Omega^1) \otimes su_2$  defined by

$$\mathcal{D}_{a}(\phi,\alpha) = (d_{a}^{*}\alpha, d_{a}\phi + *d_{a}\alpha). \tag{1b.5}$$

In particular, the kernels of  $\mathcal{D}_a$  and  $\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}(a)$  are isomorphic for any irreducible connection a, so that  $[a] \in \mathcal{B}^*$  is a nondegenerate zero of f if and only if the kernel of  $\mathcal{D}_a$  is trivial. If this is the case for all  $a \in \mathcal{R}^*$ , then one can assign a relative sign to any pair  $a, b \in \mathcal{R}^*$  as the mod-2-reduction of the spectral flow (see Sect. 2c) of any continuous family  $c(\tau)$  in  $\mathcal{A}(M)$  connecting a and b. Up to an ambiguity in the overall sign (which can be fixed using the trivial connection), this is the analog of the "degree" of a nondegenerate zero of a vector field. For each nondegenerate  $a \in \mathcal{R}^*$ , it yields a sign which turns out to be the same as the one obtained by Casson's construction. Of course, Taubes' construction can also be extended to general manifolds by a perturbation.

To understand and generalize the homology groups  $I_*(M)$  of Theorem 1, we have to take into account an additional structure of the vector field  $f_{\sigma}$ . Under the  $L^2$ -inner product on  $T\mathscr{B}(M)$  defined by the metric  $\sigma$  on M, it induces a family of linear forms  $\alpha_a$  on  $T_a\mathscr{A}=L^1_1(\Omega^1(M))$  by

$$\alpha_a(\xi) = \langle \mathcal{E}_{\sigma}(A), \xi \rangle_{\sigma} = \int F_a \wedge \xi, \qquad (1b.6)$$

where  $\land$  denotes the exterior derivative extended by the standard positive definite inner product on  $su_2$ . Note that (1b.6) does not depend on the metric  $\sigma$ . Moreover, since the linearization of  $\not \in_{\sigma}$  is selfadjoint, it is closed and can be integrated to a function  $\alpha: \mathscr{A}(M) \to \mathbb{R}$ . This function can be obtained by integrating the Chern-Simons form  $cs_2 \in \Omega^3(M)$  over M, see Sect. 1b or [CS]. With respect to gauge transformations  $g: M \to SU_2$ , it satisfies

$$a(g(a)) = a(a) + 2\pi \cdot \deg(g),$$

where deg(g) is the degree of g as a map between 3-dimensional closed manifolds. Hence a is well defined on

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}(M) = \mathcal{A}(M)/\{g \in \mathcal{G} \mid \deg(g) = 0\},$$
 (1b.7)

which is the universal covering of  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ . We will say that  $f_{\sigma}$  is the " $\sigma$ -gradient field" for a function on  $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}(M)$ . The crucial observation now is that trajectories of the vector field  $f_{\sigma}$ , i.e. of the  $\sigma$ -gradient flow of  $\alpha$ , can be identified with instantons on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$ . In fact, the instanton equation for a connection  $A \in \Omega^1_{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R} \times M)$  is given by  $F_A = *F_A$ , where  $*: \Omega^2(\mathbb{R} \times M) \to \Omega^2(\mathbb{R} \times M)$  is the Hodge duality isomorphism with respect to the product metric on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$ . By applying a gauge transformation  $g: \mathbb{R} \times M \to SU_2$  if necessary, we can always assume that the component of A in the  $\mathbb{R}$ -direction vanishes. In this case, the self-duality equation becomes

$$0 = \frac{\partial A(\tau)}{\partial \tau} + *_{\sigma} F_{A(\tau)}(x) = \frac{\partial A(\tau)}{\partial \tau} + /\!\!/_{\sigma}(A(\tau))$$
 (1b.8)

for  $A(\tau) = i_{\tau}^* A \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ . We can therefore consider the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma}(a,b)$  of Theorem 1 as the space of trajectories of the vector field  $f_{\sigma}$  connecting the two zeros a and b of  $f_{\sigma}$ . The hypothesis of Theorem 1 now means that this flow is of "Morse-Smale-type", i.e. that all zeros of  $f_{\sigma}$  are nondegenerate and that their stable and unstable manifolds intersect transversally in smooth finite dimensional manifolds. It was proved in [S2] that infinite dimensions, this is a "generic property" for gradient flows. Moreover, it is known that in finite dimensions, the homology groups defined as in Theorem 1 generally do not depend on the choice of the

gradient field. For example, in a compact manifold B, they coincide with  $H_*(B, \mathbb{Z})$ , see [Wi] and also [S1]. Hence in order to define the index homology of Theorem 1 for arbitrary homology 3-spheres, we define an appropriate set of perturbations of  $\alpha$  (compare [D3] for a similar construction): Consider a map

$$\gamma: S(m) \times D^2:= \bigvee_{i=1}^m S_i^1 \times D^2 \to M,$$

which restricts to smooth embeddings  $\gamma_{\theta}: S(m) \to M$  for each  $\theta \in D^2$  and  $\gamma_i: S_i^1 \times D^2 \to M$  for each *i*. Here, we consider on S(m) the smooth structure of the union of smooth embedded circles in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  which intersects precisely at the origin and have the same tangent there. It defines a family of holonomy maps

$$\gamma_{\theta} : \mathcal{B}(M) \rightarrow L_m := SU_2^m / ad(SU_2)$$
.

Now choose a smooth compactly supported volume form  $d^2\theta$  on the interior of  $D^2$ . Let  $C^{\infty}(L_m, \mathbb{R})$  be defined as the set of smooth ad  $(SU_2)$ -invariant real functions on  $SU_2^m$ . Then for each  $h \in C^{\infty}(L_m, \mathbb{R})$ , we can define the function

$$h_{\gamma} : \mathcal{B}(M) \to \mathbb{R} ; \qquad h_{\gamma}(a) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h(\gamma_{\theta}(a)) d^2 \theta .$$
 (1b.9)

Let us denote by  $\Gamma_m$  the set of maps  $\gamma$  as described above and by  $\Pi$  the entire set of perturbations

$$\Pi = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \Gamma_m \times C^{\infty}(L_m, \mathbb{R}).$$

**Lemma 1b.1.** For any  $\pi = (\gamma, h) \in \Pi$ ,  $h_{\gamma}$  is a smooth function on  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ . Moreover, for every smooth metric  $\sigma$  on M, there exists a smooth section  $\operatorname{grad}_{\sigma} h_{\gamma}$  of  $T\mathcal{B}(M)$  such that for every  $\xi \in T_{\sigma}\mathcal{B}(M)$ ,

$$\langle \operatorname{grad}_{\sigma} h_{\gamma}(a), \xi \rangle = Dh_{\gamma}(a)\xi.$$

*Proof.* Parametrize  $S^1$  by the unit interval I = [0, 1], with 0 and 1 corresponding to the base point in  $S^1$ . Then  $\gamma$  gives rise to maps  $\gamma_i : [0, 1] \times D^2 \to M$ , which are independent of i on the discs  $\{0\} \times D^2$ . Fix a trivialization  $\Phi_0$  of P over the image of this disc. Then for each  $a \in \mathcal{B}(M)$ , it can be extended in a unique way to trivializations  $\Phi_i(a) : \gamma_i^* \text{ ad}(P) \to [0, 1] \times D^2 \times su_2$  defined by parallel transport along  $\gamma_i(\cdot, \theta)$  for  $\theta \in D^2$ . Here, we make use of the fact that  $a \in C^0(\Omega^1 \otimes su_2)$ . Under this condition, we have a smooth family

$$\Phi_i : \mathcal{A}(M) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\gamma_i^* \operatorname{ad}(P), [0, 1] \times D^2 \times \operatorname{su}_2)$$
 (1b.10)

of continuous bundle isomorphisms. Since the holonomy  $\gamma_{\theta}(a)$  is defined as the conjugacy class of the *m*-tuple,

$$(\gamma_{\theta i}(a))_{1 \le i \le m} = (\Phi_i(a)(1,\theta)\Phi_i^{-1}(a)(0,\theta))_{1 \le i \le m} \in SU_2^m,$$

this proves that  $\gamma_{\theta}$  and hence  $h_{\gamma}$  is smooth. Its derivative is

$$Dh_{\gamma}(a) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} D_i h_{\gamma}(a)$$
.

where in terms of the parametrization  $\gamma_i$  and the trivialization  $\Phi_i$ ,

$$D_i h_{\gamma}(a) (\phi, \theta) = V_i h(\gamma_{\theta}(a)) d^2 \theta$$
.

Here,  $V_i h$  is the partial derivative of the lifting of h to  $SU_2^m$  in the direction of the  $i^{\text{th}}$  factor, identified with an element of  $su_2$  by virtue of the canonical bilinear form on  $su_2$ . The  $\sigma$ -gradient of  $h_{\gamma}$  is now the sum of sections of  $T\mathcal{B}$  which in terms of  $\gamma_i$  and  $\Phi_i$  are given by

$$\operatorname{grad}_{i,\sigma}(\theta,\phi) = V_i h(\gamma_{\theta}(a)) *_{\sigma} d^2 \theta. \tag{1b.11}$$

One checks directly that  $d_a^* \operatorname{grad} h_v(a) = 0$  and that

grad 
$$h_{\nu}(a) \in L_1^4(\Omega^1(M) \otimes su_2)$$
,

so that it in fact defines a vector field on  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ . Smoothness follows from (1b.11) and from smoothness of  $\Phi_i$  in (1b.10).  $\square$ 

### 1c) The General Construction

Given  $\pi \in \Pi$ , we define  $a_{\pi} = a + h_{\gamma}$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{R}_{\pi}$  its critical set, i.e. the zero set of the section

$$f_{\sigma\pi}(a) = *_{\sigma} F_{a} + \pi(a) = f_{\sigma}(a) + \operatorname{grad} h_{\nu}(a)$$
 (1c.1)

of  $\mathcal{L}$ . It is nondegenerate if and only if the kernel of the "Hessian"

$$D_{\sigma\pi}(a): E_1(a) \to E'(a),$$

$$D_{\sigma\pi}(a)(\phi, \alpha) = (d_a^* \alpha, d_a \phi + D_{f_{\sigma\pi}}(a)\alpha)$$
(1c.2)

consists only of elements of the form  $(\phi, 0)$  with  $d_a \phi = 0$ , i.e. corresponds to the Lie algebra of the group  $G_a$  of gauge symmetries of a. We now define

$$\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi} = \left\{ A \in L^{2}(p * \Omega^{1}(M) \otimes su_{2}) \middle| \frac{\partial A}{\partial \tau} + \mathcal{J}_{\sigma\pi}(A(\tau)) \right\}$$

$$= 0 \text{ and } l(A) < \infty \right\} / \mathcal{G}(M), \tag{1c.3}$$

where

$$l(A) = \left\| \frac{\partial A}{\partial \tau} \right\|_{2}^{2}.$$

We omit the subscripts  $\sigma$  and  $\pi$  whenever possible. We may think of  $\mathcal{M}$  as the "Morse complex" of bounded trajectories of the gradient flow, but also as the perturbed "moduli space" of instantons. In fact, if we extended l(A) and

$$F_{\sigma\pi}(A) = \frac{\partial A}{\partial \tau} + f_{\sigma\pi}(A)$$

gauge equivariantly to  $\mathcal{A}(\mathbb{R} \times M)$ , then we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi} = \{ A \in \mathcal{A}(\mathbb{R} \times M) \mid F_{\sigma\pi}(A) = 0 \text{ and } l(A) < \infty \} / \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R} \times M).$$

We will use either of the two terms for elements of  $\mathcal{M}$ , depending on which aspect is more important at a particular time. Note that if for  $A \in \mathcal{M}$  with  $\pi = 0$ , l(A) is proportional to the Yang-Mills action. For a general  $[A] \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}(M)$ , it is equal to the difference of the perturbed Chern-Simons function along the path in  $\mathcal{B}(M)$  defined by A. In fact,

$$\frac{d}{d\tau} \left( \alpha_{\pi}(A(\tau)) \right) = D \alpha_{\pi}(A(\tau)) \frac{\partial A(\tau)}{\partial \tau} = \left\langle f_{\sigma\pi}, \frac{\partial A(\tau)}{\partial \tau} \right\rangle_{\sigma} = - \left\| \frac{\partial A(\tau)}{\partial \tau} \right\|_{2}^{2}. \tag{1c.4}$$

Hence  $a_{\pi}$  decreases along trajectories in  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  and the trajectories of finite length l are precisely those along which  $a_{\pi}$  is bounded.

The linearization of the flow equation at  $A \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  is equivalent to the elliptic operator

$$D_A \alpha = \frac{\partial \alpha(\tau)}{\partial \tau} + D_{\sigma\pi}(A(\tau))\alpha \tag{1c.5}$$

on  $\Omega^1(\mathbb{R} \times M) = p^*(\Omega^0(M) \oplus \Omega^1(M))$ . We call A regular if the adjoint

$$D_A^+ \alpha = -\frac{\partial \alpha(\tau)}{\partial \tau} + D_{\sigma\pi}^+(A(\tau))\alpha$$

has no bounded solutions. We call  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  regular if all  $A \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  are regular. In this case, it follows from the implicit function theorem that  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  is a smooth manifold. The following proposition summarizes the principal properties of  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$ , which we prove in Sect. 2 and 3.

**Proposition 1c.1.** For a dense set of parameters  $(\sigma, \pi) \in \Sigma \times \Pi$ ,  $\Re$  is nondegenerate and  $\mathscr{M}$  decomposes into smooth oriented manifolds  $\mathscr{M}(a,b)$  of regular trajectories connecting  $a,b \in \Re$ . To each  $a \in \Re$  we can associate a Morse index  $\mu(a) \in \mathbb{Z}_8$  so that

$$\dim \mathcal{M}(a,b) = \mu(a) - \mu(b) - \dim G_b \pmod{8}. \tag{1c.6}$$

Moreover, let  $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}(a,b)$  denote the (oriented) quotient by the translational symmetry. Then if  $b_0,...,b_n$  are irreducible, we have orientation preserving local diffeomorphisms

$$\#: \hat{\mathcal{M}}(b_0,b_1) \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \hat{\mathcal{M}}(b_1,b_2) \times \ldots \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \hat{\mathcal{M}}(b_{n-1},b_n) \supset \mathcal{O} \rightarrow \hat{\mathcal{M}}(b_0,b_n)$$

with the following properties:

- (T1) For each compact  $K \in \widehat{\mathcal{M}}(b_0, b_1) \times ... \times \widehat{\mathcal{M}}(b_{n-1}, b_n)$ , there exists  $\varrho(K) \in \mathcal{R}_+$  such that  $K \times [\varrho(k), \infty)^{n-1} \in \mathcal{O}$ .
- (T2) For  $1 \le i \le n$  there exists a lifting  $\#_i$  of # to  $\mathcal{M}(b_0, b_n)$  such that  $\#_i(A, \varrho) \to A_i$  locally with  $\varrho_i, \varrho_{i+1} \to \infty$ .
- (T3) If  $din|(\mathcal{M}(a,b))| \leq 4$ , then the complement of all maps # for all possible configurations  $a = b_0, b_1, ..., b_n = b$  is compact.

The existence of the map # is well known in finite dimensions as "transitivity" of Morse-Smale flows: Trajectories ending at and originating from a nondegenerate fixed point x can be "connected" to yield a family of unbroken flow trajectories converging "in the image" to the components. In a compact finite dimensional manifold, this construction would cover all ends of the trajectory spaces. The dimensional restriction in (T3) is due to the singular critical point  $0 \in \mathcal{B}(M)$ : It follows from (1c.6) that if  $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(a,0)$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(0,b)$  are both discrete, then  $\mu(a) - \mu(b) = 5 \mod 8$ . In fact, one can show that the appropriate gluing map in this case would be

$$\widehat{\mathcal{M}}(a,0) \times SO_3 \times \mathcal{R}_+ \times \widehat{\mathcal{M}}(0,b) \to \widehat{\mathcal{M}}(a,b), \tag{1c.8}$$

i.e. we would have an additional 3-dimensional gluing parameter. This is a problem which one also encounters in finite dimensional equivariant Morse theory. However, even if we took the map (1c.7) into account, we would still have a restriction in (T3): For dim  $\mathcal{M}(a,b) \ge 8$ , we may have sequences of instantons

diverging by splitting off a "point-instanton" anywhere on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$ . In fact, Taubes' gluing procedure (see [T1]) allows us to "glue" instantons into  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$  at arbitrary points on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  and with arbitrary scaling and "gauge orientation," obtaining a local diffeomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}(a,b) \times SO_3 \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R} \times M \to \mathcal{M}(a,b)$$
. (1c.8)

Hence this phenomenon is closely related to the mod-8 ambiguity of dim  $\mathcal{M}(a, b)$ , and has no analogon in finite dimensional Morse theory. In this paper, we will be concerned only with 1- and 2-dimensional trajectory spaces, so that neither (1c.7) nor (1c.8) will enter the discussion. In fact, let us first consider the 1-dimensional part of  $\mathcal{M}$ , i.e. the zero dimensional part of  $\hat{\mathcal{M}}$ , whose elements we call "isolated trajectories."

**Theorem 2.** For  $(\sigma, \pi)$  as in Proposition 1c.1 the number of isolated instantons is finite. Moreover, let  $o(A) = \pm 1$  denote the orientation of an isolated instanton A and let  $\langle \partial a, b \rangle$  denote the sum of o(A) over all isolated trajectories in  $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}(x, y)$ . For  $p \in \mathbb{Z}_8$ , let  $R_p$  denote the free Abelian group over the set  $\mathcal{R}_p = \{a \in \mathcal{R}^* \mid \mu(a) = p\}$ . Then the homomorphism

$$\hat{\partial}: R_p \to R_{p-1}; \qquad \hat{\partial} x = \sum_{y \in R} \langle \partial x, y \rangle y$$

satisfies  $\partial \partial = 0$ . The group

$$I_{n}(M; \sigma, \pi) = \ker \partial_{n} / \operatorname{im} \partial_{n+1}$$
 (1c.9)

does not depend on the choice of  $\sigma$  and  $\pi$ . In fact, for any two parameter sets  $(\sigma_i, \pi_i)$ , i = 0, 1, there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$h: I^*(M; \sigma_0, \pi_0) \to I^*(M; \sigma_1, \pi_1)$$
.

**Proof** of Theorem 2. Part 1. It follows from Proposition 1c.1 that the zero dimensional part of  $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}$  is compact and hence finite. To prove the second assertion, note that the matrix elements

$$\langle \partial \partial a, c \rangle = \sum_{b \in \mathcal{R}^*} \langle \partial a, b \rangle \langle \partial b, c \rangle$$

correspond to the sum of the product signs  $o^2(A, B) = o(A)o(B)$  over the zero dimensional part of

$$\widehat{\mathcal{M}}^{2}(a,c) := \bigcup_{b \in \mathscr{D}^{*}} \widehat{\mathcal{M}}(a,b) \times \widehat{\mathcal{M}}(b,c).$$

Now note that by (T3) of Proposition 1c.1, the ends of the 1-dimensional part of  $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}(a,c)$  are in oriented 1-1 correspondence with the zero dimensional part of  $(\widehat{\mathcal{M}}^2(a,c),o^2)$ . This proves that  $\partial \partial = 0$ .

The proof of the invariance of  $I_*$  is related to the functorial properties of  $I_*$  mentioned in the Introduction. We will consider a cobordism  $W: M \to N$  between closed oriented 3-manifolds as an oriented smooth 4-manifold W with open submanifolds  $M \times \mathbb{R}_-$  and  $N \times \mathbb{R}_+$  such that  $W_0 := W - M \times \mathbb{R}_+ - N \times \mathbb{R}_-$  is a compact smooth manifold with boundary  $N \cup M$ . Here,  $\mathbb{R}_+ \subset \mathbb{R}$  are oriented in the usual way. On W, we consider the set  $\Sigma_W$  of conformal structures  $\sigma$  extending the

product conformal structures on the ends. Recall that a conformal structure defines (and is defined by) a 3-dimensional subbundle  $\Omega_{\sigma}^+ \subset \Omega^2(W)$  and a canonical completement  $\Omega_{\sigma}^-$ . We also define a class  $\Pi_W$  of perturbations of the selfduality equation  $(F_A)_{\pm}=0$  which extend the translationally invariant Hamiltonian perturbations on the ends and which are the following form: Let B be an open 3-dimensional manifold and consider maps

$$\gamma_W: \Gamma_m \times B \to W_0$$

restricting to embeddings on  $S_i^1 \times B$  in complete analogy with the definition of the maps  $\gamma$  in Sect. 1b. On B, consider a compactly supported 2-form  $\omega$ . Then for any smooth vector field k on  $L_m$  (i.e. for any smooth and invariant vector field on  $SU_2^m$ ), we can define the adjoint-valued 2-form  $k_{\gamma} \in \Omega_{\rm ad}^2(W)$  by superposition of forms  $(k_{\gamma})_i$  defined by

$$(k_{\gamma})_i(\gamma_i(\phi,\beta)) = \omega k_i(\gamma(A))$$

on  $\gamma(S_i^1 \times B)$ . Here,  $k_i$  is the i<sup>th</sup> component of k as a vector field on  $SU_2^m$ . This defines a set  $\Pi_W$  of  $\mathcal{G}(W)$ -equivariant maps

$$\pi: \mathscr{A}(W) \to L^p_1(\Omega^2_{\mathrm{ad}}(W)).$$

Note that  $\pi(A) \in \Omega^2_{\mathrm{ad}}$  is neither selfdual nor antiselfdual in general, since  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \phi} \dashv \pi(A) = 0$  whenever  $\gamma$  is injective. We now define a section of  $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{B}(W), a, a')$  as the quotient by  $\mathscr{G}(W)$  of the function

$$F_{\sigma\pi} \colon \mathscr{A}(W) \to L^p(\Omega_{\mathrm{ad}}^{\pm}(W,\sigma)) \,, \qquad F_{\sigma\pi}^{\pm}(A) = (F_A + \pi(A)) \,.$$

By [D3], a homology orientation of a closed oriented manifold W is an orientation of the real line

$$\Lambda(W) = \det(H^1(W, \mathbb{R})) \times \det(H^2(W, \mathbb{R}) + H^2_-(W, \mathbb{R})).$$

Here,  $H_{-}^2$  is the negative part with respect to the intersection form and det denotes the highest nontrivial exterior power. This definition still makes sense for a manifold whose boundary consists of homology 3-spheres.

**Proposition 1c.2.** For a dense set of parameters  $(\sigma, \pi) \in \Sigma_W \times \Pi_W$  extending a given set of regular parameters on M and N, the zero set of  $F_{\sigma\pi}$  on  $\mathcal{B}(W, a, a')$  is regular for all  $a, a' \in R(M) \times R(N)$  with

$$\dim \mathcal{M}(W, a, a') = \mu(a) - \mu(a') + 3(\beta_1(W) - \beta_2^{-}(W)).$$

Here,  $\beta_i = \dim(H^i(W, \mathbb{R}))$  and  $\beta_2^-$  is the dimension of the negative definite part  $H^2(W, \mathbb{R})$  of  $H^2(W, \mathbb{R})$  with respect to the cup product and the orientation of W. Moreover, given a homology orientation of W and orientations of M(N) and M(N), there exists a natural orientation on M(W) with orientation preserving local diffeomorphisms

$$\widehat{\mathcal{M}}(a,b) \times \mathbb{R}_{-} \times \mathcal{M}(b,b') \rightarrow \mathcal{M}(a,b'),$$
  
 $\mathcal{M}(a,a') \times \mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathcal{M}(a',b') \rightarrow \mathcal{M}(a,b').$ 

As an immediate consequence of Proposition 1c.2, the zero dimensional part of  $\mathcal{M}(W)$  is compact again, and hence finite for "regular"  $(\sigma, \pi)$ . Hence it defines a homomorphism

$$\gamma = \gamma(W, \sigma, \pi) : R_*(M) \to R_*(N). \tag{1c.10}$$

**Theorem 3.** For each  $(W, \sigma, \pi)$  as described above,  $\gamma$  is a chain map. The induced map

$$W_* := \gamma_* : I_*(M) \rightarrow I_*(N)$$

depends only on the smooth cobordism  $W: M \to \mathbb{N}$ . It is the identity for the product cobordism. For a composite cobordism W = UV, we have  $W_* = U_*V_*$ .

*Proof.* We first prove Theorem 3 for the groups  $I_*(M, \sigma, \pi)$  of (1c.9), without assuming invariance. That  $\gamma$  is a chain homomorphism is proved in a similarway the chain property of  $\partial$  itself. For  $a \in \mathcal{R}(M, \pi_M)$  and  $b' \in \mathcal{R}(N, \pi_N)$ , the matrix element  $\langle (\partial_{\gamma} - \gamma \partial) a, b' \rangle$  is oriented cardinality of the set

$$\mathcal{M}^2(a,a') = \bigcup_{b \in \mathcal{R}^*(M)} (-\hat{\mathcal{M}}(a,b)) \times \mathcal{M}(b,b') \cup \bigcup_{a' \in \mathcal{R}(N)} \mathcal{M}(a,a') \times \hat{\mathcal{M}}(a',b').$$

This proves that  $\partial \gamma - \gamma \partial = 0$ , i.e. we associate to a regular  $(W, \sigma, \pi)$  a chain map  $R_*(M, \pi_M) \rightarrow (R_*(N, \pi_N))$ . Now consider two regular cobordisms  $(u, \sigma_U, \pi_U) : M \rightarrow N$  and  $(V, \sigma_V, \pi_V) : N \rightarrow L$  so that  $(\sigma_U, \pi_U)$  and  $(\sigma_V, \pi_V)$  coincide on N. Then for each compact set in  $K \subset \mathcal{M}(a, b; U) \times \mathcal{M}(b, c; V)$  there exists  $\varrho_K \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and for all  $\varrho > \varrho_K$  a local diffeomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}(a,b;U) \times \mathcal{M}(b,c;V) \supset K \to \mathcal{M}(a,c;U \#_{a}V),$$

constructed by the same method as the maps in Propositions 1c.1 and 1c.2. It follows that  $\gamma$  is functorial with respect to composition of cobordisms in the sense that for  $\varrho$  large enough,  $(U \#_{\varrho} V, \sigma_{\varrho}, \pi_{\varrho})$  is regular if  $(U, \sigma_{U}, \pi_{U})$  and  $(V, \sigma_{V}, \pi_{V})$  are, and that

$$\gamma(U \, \#_{\varrho} \, V, \sigma_{\varrho}, \pi_{\varrho}) = \gamma(U, \sigma_{U}, \pi_{U}) \circ \gamma(V, \sigma_{V}, \pi_{V}) \, .$$

Now let  $(\bar{\sigma}, \bar{\pi}) = (\sigma_{\lambda}, \gamma_{\lambda}, h_{\lambda})_{\sigma \leq \lambda \leq 1}$  be a smooth family of parameters on W which are constant in  $\lambda$  outside  $W_0$ , and which are generic for  $\lambda = 0$ , 1 in the sense of (1). Then applying an arbitrarily small perturbation  $\bar{\sigma}\bar{\pi}$  if necessary, the sets

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}(a,a') := \{(u,\lambda) \mid u \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma_{\lambda}\pi_{\lambda}}(a,a')\} \subset \mathcal{B}(W;a,a') \times [0,1]$$

are regular zero sets of  $F_{\sigma\bar{\pi}}^-(A,\lambda) = F_{\sigma_{\lambda}\pi_{\lambda}}^-(A)$  and are therefore smooth manifolds of dimension

$$\dim \overline{\mathcal{M}}(a,b) = \mu(a) - \mu(b) + 1 \quad (\text{mod } 8).$$

It follows now from the obvious parametrized version of Proposition 1c.2 that the zero dimensional part of  $\overline{M}$  defines a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module homomorphism

$$\bar{\gamma} := \gamma(W, \bar{\sigma}, \bar{\pi}) : R_*(M, \pi_M) \rightarrow R_*(N, \pi_N)$$

with  $deg(\bar{\gamma}) = deg(\gamma_i) + 1$  such that

$$\gamma_0 - \gamma_1 = \partial_M \bar{\gamma} - \bar{\gamma} \partial_N. \tag{1c.11}$$

This proves that  $(\gamma_0)_* = (\gamma_1)_* : I_*(M, \sigma_M, \pi_M) \to I_*(N, \sigma_N, \pi_N)$ .

Proof of Theorem 2. Part 2. Consider  $W = M \times \mathbb{R}$  with  $\pi(A)(\tau) = \operatorname{grad} h_{\gamma}(A(\tau); \tau)$ . Then  $(W, \pi)$  is a product for  $\tau$  outside [0, 1], and hence defines a chain homomorphism  $\gamma(W, \pi) \colon R_*(M, \pi_0) \to R_*(M, \pi_1)$ . Reversing the  $\tau$ -direction in  $\overline{W}$ , we obtain a chain homomorphism  $\overline{\gamma} = \gamma(\overline{W}, \pi_+) \colon R_*(M, \pi_1) \to R_*(M, \pi_0)$ . Now the compositions  $\overline{W}W$  and  $W\overline{W}$  can be deformed (with fixed ends) to the products  $(M, \pi_0) \times \mathbb{R}$  and  $(M, \pi_1) \times \mathbb{R}$ , respectively. Since the product induces the identity on  $R_*$ , this proves that  $\gamma_*$  and  $\overline{\gamma}_*$  are mutually inverse in homology.  $\square$ 

## 2. Local Properties of $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{M})$

## 2a) Connections on $\mathbb{R} \times M$

For  $\delta > 0$ , let  $e_{\delta} : \mathbb{R} \times M \to \mathbb{R}$  be a smooth positive function with  $e_{\delta}(\tau, x) = e^{\delta|\tau|}$  for  $|\tau| \ge 1$ . Let E be a bundle over  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  with a translationally invariant metric  $|\cdot|$  and metric preserving connection V. Following [K] and [LM], we define the norms

$$\|\xi\|_{k,p:\delta} = \|e_{\delta} \cdot \xi\|_{k,p}$$

on sections  $\xi$  of E. Here,  $\| \|_{k,p}$  is the usual Sobolev norm. To define suitable Banach manifolds  $\mathcal{B}(a,b)$  of paths connecting a and b in  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ , choose any smooth representation of  $a,b \in \mathcal{A}(M)$  and a connection A on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  whose first component vanishes and coincides with a for  $\tau \leq -1$  and with b for  $\tau \geq 1$ . Then the set

$$\mathcal{A}_{\delta}(a,b) = A + L^{4}_{1:\delta}(\Omega^{1}_{ad}(\mathbb{R} \times M)) \tag{2a.1}$$

obviously does not depend on the choice of A. By virtue of (1b.1), it is acted upon by

$$\mathcal{G}_{\delta} = \{ g \in L^{4}_{2, \text{loc}}(\mathbb{R} \times M, SU_{2}) \mid \text{there exists } R > 0$$
and  $\xi \in L^{4}_{2, \delta}(\Omega^{0}_{\text{ad}}(\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma)) \text{ so that } g = \exp \xi \text{ for } |\tau| \ge R \}.$  (2a.2)

**Proposition 2a.1.** For  $\delta \geq 0$ ,  $\mathscr{G}$  is a Banach Lie group with Lie algebra

$$\mathscr{G} = L^4_{2,\,\delta}(\Omega^0_{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R}\times M))\,.$$

It acts smoothly on  $\mathcal{A}_{\delta}(a,b)$ . The quotient space  $\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(a,b) = \mathcal{A}_{\delta}(a,b)/\mathcal{G}_{\delta}$  is a smooth Banach manifold with tangent spaces

$$T_{[A]}\mathcal{B}(a,b) = \left\{\alpha \in L^4_{1:\delta}(\Omega^1_{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R} \times M) \mid e_\delta d_A^* e_\delta^{-1} \alpha = 0\right\}$$

and charts

$$T_{[A]}\mathcal{B}(a,b) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}(a,b); \quad \alpha \mapsto [A+\alpha].$$

*Proof.* For  $\delta > 0$ , this is essentially Lemma 7.3 of [T2]. The extension to  $\delta = 0$  in the case where a and b are irreducible is possible because the central ingredient in the proof is the fact that

$$(e_{\delta}d_{A}^{*}e_{\delta}^{-1})d_{A}: L_{2,\delta}^{p}(\Omega_{ad}^{0}(\mathbb{R}\times\Sigma)) \rightarrow L_{0,\delta}^{p}(\Omega_{ad}^{0}(\mathbb{R}\times\Sigma))$$

is an isomorphism. If we set  $\delta = 0$ , then it follows from Theorem 1.3 of [LM] that  $d_A^*d_A$  is Fredholm if and only if A is irreducible. In this case, an integration by parts proves that it is also positive, i.e. an isomorphism.  $\square$ 

Consider now the linear operation  $g(\xi) = g\xi g^{-1}$  for a section  $\xi \in L^q_{l:\delta'}(E_{ad})$ , where E is some metric bundle over  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  and  $q \ge 1$ ,  $l \ge 0$ , and  $\delta'$  are real numbers. The operation is continuous if and only if  $l \le \min(1, 4/q)$  and  $\delta' \le \delta$ . For such l, q, and  $\delta'$ , it follows with the methods of Proposition 2a.1 that the quotient

$$\mathcal{L}_{l \cdot \delta'}^{q}(E) = (\mathcal{A}_{\delta} \times L_{l \cdot \delta'}^{q})/\mathcal{G}_{\delta}, \tag{2a.3}$$

with respect to the diagonal operation is a smooth Banach space bundle with trivializations

$$T_{[A]}\mathcal{B} \times L^q_{l;\,\delta'}(E_{\mathrm{ad}}) \rightarrow \mathcal{L}^q_{l;\,\delta'}(E); \quad (\alpha,\beta) \mapsto [(\alpha,\beta)].$$

Here  $[(\alpha,\beta)]$  denotes the orbit in (2a.3). A (smooth) section  $\sigma$  of  $\mathcal{L}^q_{l;\delta'}(E)$  is given by any (smooth)  $G_{\delta}$ -invariant function from  $\mathcal{A}_{\delta}$  to  $L^q_{l;\delta'}(E)$ . As its "derivative," we then define the ordinary derivative Ds(A) restricted to  $\ker d^{\delta}_A$ . We will be mainly concerned with  $\mathcal{L}_{\delta} = \mathcal{L}^4_{0,\delta}(\Omega^-_{\sigma})$ , where  $\Omega^-_{\sigma}$  is the bundle of anti-self-dual 2-forms on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$ .

**Proposition 2a.2.** For  $(\sigma, \pi) \in \Sigma \times \Pi$ , the function

$$F_{\sigma\pi}: \mathscr{A}_{\delta} \to \mathscr{L}_{\delta}, \quad F_{\sigma\pi}(A) = \frac{1}{2}(F_A - *_{\sigma}F_A) + \pi(A),$$
 (2a.4)

with  $\pi(A)(\tau) = i_{\tau}\pi(A(\tau))$  is smooth and  $\mathcal{G}_{\delta}$ -equivariant. The first order expansion

$$F_{\sigma\pi}(A+\alpha) = F_{\sigma\pi}(A) + DF_{\sigma\pi}(A)\alpha + N(\alpha)$$
 (2a.5)

satisfies

$$||N(\xi) - N(\zeta)||_{n} \le C(A, \pi) (||\xi||_{1, n} + ||\zeta||_{1, n}) ||\xi - \zeta||_{1, n},$$
(2a.6)

$$||N(\xi)||_{p;\delta} \le C(A,\pi) ||\xi||_{\infty} ||\xi||_{1,p;\delta}. \tag{2a.7}$$

*Proof.* Equivariance follows from (1b.3) for F - \*F and from equivariance of the restriction  $A(\tau) = i_{\tau}^* A$ . To show that  $F_{\sigma\pi}(A) \in L^4_{0.\delta}(\Omega_{\sigma}^-)$ , note that  $f_{\sigma\pi}$  is a  $C^2$  section of  $L^p$  and that, for R large enough,

$$\begin{split} \|F_{\sigma\pi}(A)\|_{p,\,\delta}^p &= \int e^{\tau\delta p} \| /\!\!\!/_{\!\!\sigma\pi}(A(\tau)) \|_p^p d\tau \\ &\leq C \int\limits_{-R}^R e^{\tau\delta p} \|A(\tau)\|_{1,\,p}^p + C_1 \int\limits_{R}^\infty e^{\tau\delta p} \|A(\tau) - a\|_{1,\,p}^p \\ &+ C \int\limits_{-\infty}^{-R} e^{\tau\delta p} \|A(\tau) - b\|_{1,\,p}^p < \infty \;. \end{split}$$

Now consider the linear part of the expansion (2a.5). Note that  $\pi$  is  $C^1$ -bounded. Moreover, the operator  $d_A - *d_A$  is bounded with respect to the norms  $\| \|_{1,p}$  and  $\| \|_p$ . The estimates on the nonlinear part follow from the definition of the curvature and a  $C^2$ -bound on  $\pi$ .

## 2b) Fredholm Theory

Note that for any  $a \in \mathcal{B}(M)$ , the operator  $D_a = D_{\sigma\pi}(a)$  of (1c.2) is selfadjoint and elliptic up to a part which is compact on the domain. It follows that the real part

$$\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}(a; \sigma, \pi) = \{ \operatorname{Re} z \mid z \in \sigma(Da) \}$$
 (2b.1)

of the spectrum of  $D_a$  is a discrete subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Roughly speaking, purely imaginary eigenvalues of  $D_a$  correspond to "rotational modes" of the flow, which complicate the structure of the trajectory spaces  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$ . This is reflected in the Fredholm property of the linearization of  $F_{\sigma\pi}$ , i.e. of  $DF_{\sigma\pi}(A)$  restricted to the kernel of  $d_A^{\delta}$ . As in the case of the linearization of  $f_{\sigma\pi}$ , it is convenient to combine the operator and the gauge to one essentially elliptic operator. Define therefore

$$W_{\delta} = L_{1:\delta}^{p}(\Omega_{\mathrm{ad}}^{1}(\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma)), \qquad L_{\delta} = L_{0:\delta}^{p}(\Omega_{\mathrm{ad}}^{-} \oplus \Omega_{\mathrm{ad}}^{0}(\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma)). \tag{2b.2}$$

**Proposition 2b.1.** If  $\delta > 0$  is smaller than the first positive element of  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}(a)$  and the absolute value of the first negative element of  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}(b)$ , then for any zero of  $F_{\sigma\pi}$  on  $\mathcal{B}(a,b)$ , the operator

$$D_A: W_\delta \to L_\delta; \quad D_A \alpha = (d_A^\delta \alpha, DF_{\sigma\pi}(A)\alpha)$$
 (2b.3)

is Fredholm. If a and b are irreducible and nondegenerate zeros of  $f_{\sigma\pi}$ , then  $D_A\colon W_0\to L_0$  is Fredholm.

*Proof.* Representing A in the temporal gauge and identifying both  $\Omega^1(\mathbb{R} \times M)$  and  $\Omega^2_-(\mathbb{R} \times M) \oplus \Omega^0(\mathbb{R} \times M)$  with  $\Omega^0_M \oplus \Omega^1_M$  in the canonical way, we have for  $\tau < -1$ ,

$$\begin{split} D_{A}\alpha(\tau) &= \left( d_{A(\tau)}^{*}\alpha_{1} + \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \pm \delta_{-} \right) \alpha_{0} \cdot * d_{A(\tau)}\alpha_{1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \alpha_{0} \right) + D\pi(A(\tau))\alpha \\ &= \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} + D_{A(\tau)} \right) \alpha \pm \delta_{-}\alpha_{0} \,. \end{split} \tag{2b.4}$$

Now Proposition 2b.1 essentially Theorem 1.3 of [LM]. To recall the main steps of the proof, note first that by standard elliptic Fredholm theory on compact manifolds, one can reduce the assertion to the case of arbitrarily small paths in  $\mathcal{B}(a,a)$  for  $a \in \mathcal{B}$ . Here we use the fact that the perturbation  $D\pi$  factors through a continuous operator from  $L^4_{2/3}$  to  $L^4$  and is therefore "locally" a compact perturbation of the elliptic linearization of the instanton equation. Moreover, since the set of Fredholm operators is open in the operator topology, we only have to consider the case where A is a "constant" connection  $\hat{a}$ . By hypothesis, there exists for each  $\lambda \in \mathcal{B}$  a resolvent

$$R_{\lambda} = (D_x + \delta_- + i\lambda)^{-1} \cdot L^p(a) \otimes \mathbb{C} \to L^p(a) \otimes \mathbb{C}$$

bounded independently of  $\lambda$ . Define for  $\xi \in L^p(p^*(\Omega_M^0 \oplus \Omega_M^1))$ ,

$$\widehat{\xi}(\lambda, x) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{i\lambda\tau} \xi(\tau, x) d\tau.$$

Then

$$\zeta(\tau) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{-\lambda \tau} R_{\lambda} \xi(\lambda) d\lambda$$

satisfies  $D_{\hat{a}}\zeta = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} + D_{\hat{a}}\right)\zeta = \xi$ . As in [MP]. Theorem 4.1 (see also [K] for the case p = 2), we now conclude that

$$\|\zeta\|_{1,p;\delta} \le C \cdot \|\xi\|_{p;\delta} = C_i \cdot \|D_{\hat{a}}\zeta\|_{p;\delta}.$$
 (2b.5)

To determine the index of  $D_A$ , we consider A as connecting two elements  $\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}$  of the zero set  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$  of f in the covering space  $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}(M)$  of (1b.7). Then we have

**Proposition 2b.2.** To each nondegenerate  $\tilde{a} \in \mathcal{H}$  we can associate an integer  $\mu(\tilde{a})$  such that  $\mu(g(\tilde{a})) = \mu(\tilde{a}) + 8 \cdot \deg(g)$ , and so that for  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b})$ ,

Index 
$$D_A = \mu(\tilde{a}) - \mu(\tilde{b}) - \dim G_b$$
.

*Proof.* Assume first that a and b are irreducible and  $\delta = 0$ . As in the proof of Proposition 2b.1, write

$$D_A = \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} + D_{\tau},$$

 $D_{\tau} = D_{A(\tau)}$ . Then the Fredholm index of  $D_A$  is given by the "spectral flow" (see [AS2]) of  $D_{\tau}$  through the imaginary axes. A construction of this integer quantity is given as follows: Choose  $\tau_0 < \ldots < \tau_N$  and  $\lambda_1 \ldots \lambda_N$  in  $\mathbb R$  so that  $\lambda_i \notin \sigma_{\mathbb R}(\tau)$  for  $\tau_{i-1} \le \tau \le \tau_i$  and so that the same is true for  $\lambda_0 := 0$  for  $\tau \le \tau_0$  and for  $\lambda_{N+1} := 0$  for  $\tau \ge \tau_N$ . Define the integer  $n_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le N$ , as the dimension of the eigenspace of  $D_{\tau_i}$  corresponding to the eigenvalues in the strip  $\lambda_{i+1} \le \operatorname{Re} z \le \lambda_i$  in  $\mathbb C$ . Otherwise, we define  $n_i$  to be the negative of the dimension of the eigenspace of  $D_{\tau_i}$  in  $\lambda_i \le \operatorname{Re} z \le \lambda_{i+1}$ . We claim that

Index 
$$D_A = \sum_{i=0}^{N} n_i$$
. (2b.6)

This also proves that the right-hand side is independent of the construction and that it is continuous in A. To prove (2b.6), consider for each  $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$  the operator

$$D(\varrho) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} + D_{\bar{\beta}_{\varrho}(\tau)},$$

where  $\overline{\beta}_{\varrho}(\tau) = \beta(\tau - \varrho)\tau + (1 - \beta(\tau - \varrho))\varrho$ . Then  $D(\varrho)$  is an asymptotically "constant" operator so that we can apply Theorem 1.3 of [LM] as in the proof of Proposition 2b.1. In particular,  $D(\tau_i)$  is a Fredholm operator with respect to the exponential weight  $e^{\beta(\tau)\lambda_i\tau}$  as well as to  $e^{\beta(\tau)\lambda_{i+1}\tau}$  by the choice of  $\lambda_i$ . The difference of the first and the second Fredholm index is  $n_i$  by Theorem 1.4 of [LM]. On the other hand,  $D(\varrho)$  for  $\tau_{i-1} \leq \varrho \leq \tau_i$  is a continuous family of Fredholm operators for the weight  $e^{\beta(\tau)\lambda_i\tau}$ , so that the Fredholm index does not change through this deformation. Finally, it follows from the proof of Proposition 2b.1 that for large negative  $\varrho$ ,  $D(\varrho)$  is an isomorphism. This proves (2b.6).

It follows immediately from the definition that (2b.6) is additive with respect to composition of paths in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}(M)$ . Since each  $\mathcal{B}(a,b)$  is simply connected, it follows from continuity of the Fredholm index that (2b.6) depends only on the end points. Hence fixing an arbitrary value of  $\mu(a)$  for some irreducible nondegenerate  $a \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ , we can define  $\mu(b) = \mu(a) + \operatorname{Index} E_A$  for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}(a,b)$ .

The formula for reducible nondegenerate zeros is obtained in the same way, with  $\lambda_0 = -\varepsilon$  and  $\lambda_N = \varepsilon$ . Due to this modification, the index is not additive any more with respect to compositions of paths  $A, B \in \mathcal{B}(a, b) \times \mathcal{B}(b, c)$  to  $A \# B \in \mathcal{B}(a, c)$  but satisfies

$$\operatorname{Index} D_{A \neq B} = \operatorname{Index} D_A + \operatorname{Index} D_B + \dim G_b. \tag{2b.7}$$

This accounts for the correction term in Proposition 2b.2 for a suitable extension of  $\mu$ . Clearly, the "relative Morse index"  $\mu$  is well defined only up to an additive constant. Fixing a representative a of the trivial connection in  $\mathfrak{B}$  (which is always nondegenerate for a rational homology sphere), we can fix this additive constant by requiring that  $\mu(0)=0$ .  $\square$ 

## 2c) Transversality

The aim of this section is to prove the density of regular parameters  $\sigma \pi \in \Sigma \times \Pi$  of Proposition 1c.1. The method is essentially the one of [FU]. The crucial point is to produce "enough" perturbations:

**Lemma 2c.1.** (1) For every compact subset  $K \subset \mathcal{B}^*(M)$ , there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\gamma: \Gamma_m \times D^2 \to M$ , as described in Sect. 1b, inducing injective maps  $\gamma_\theta: K \to L_m$ .

(2) For any  $a \in \mathcal{B}^*(M)$ , the set  $\Pi(a) = \{\pi(a) \mid \pi \in \Pi\}$  is dense in  $T_a\mathcal{B}(M)$ .

*Proof.* The proof of (1) is obvious since two connections are equal in  $\mathcal{B}^*(M)$  if and only if their holonomies coincide on all graphs in M. The second statement follows from the first, since every finite dimensional subspace of  $T_a\mathcal{B}(M)$  is the tangent space of a suitably defined finite dimensional and hence locally compact submanifold of  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ .  $\square$ 

In the following, we would rather work with Banach spaces of perturbations than with the Frechet spaces  $C^{\infty}(L_m, \mathbb{R})$ . We therefore follow [F2] and define for every sequence  $\underline{\varepsilon} = (\varepsilon_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  of positive real numbers a Banach space

$$C^{\underline{\varepsilon}}(L_m,\mathbb{R}) = \{h \in C^{\infty}(L_m,\mathbb{R}) \mid ||h||_{\underline{\varepsilon}} < \infty \}$$

of smooth functions on  $L_m$  with norm

$$||h||_{\underline{\varepsilon}} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon_i \max_{x \in L_m} |D^i h(x)|.$$

Then by Lemma 5.1 of [F2],  $\underline{\varepsilon}$  can be chosen small enough so that  $C^{\iota}(L_m, \mathbb{R})$  is dense in  $L^{\iota}(L_m, \mathbb{R})$  for all  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . In particular, we can approximate step functions in all  $L^{\iota}$ -norms. Fixing such an  $\underline{\varepsilon}$ , we can associate to each graph  $\gamma$  a Banach space  $\Pi_{\gamma}$ . Now recall that a subset is said to be of first category if it is the countable intersection of open and dense sets. It is then always dense by Baire's theorem. We are now ready to state

**Proposition 2c.1.** For every  $\pi \in \Pi$ , there exists  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  such that the set of all  $\hat{\pi} \in \pi + \Pi_{\gamma}$  for which  $\mathcal{R}_{\hat{\pi}}$  is nondegenerate is of first category near  $\pi$ .

*Proof.* Note first that by elliptic regularity, the set

$$\mathscr{C}_{\pi} = \{ (a, \xi) \in \mathscr{L} \mid a \in R_{\pi}, \|\xi\|_{2} = 1, \text{ and } \xi \in \ker D_{\sigma\pi}(a) \text{ for any } \sigma \in \Sigma \}$$

is compact. By Lemma 2c.1, we can therefore choose  $\gamma$  such that  $\gamma_0$  is injective on  $\mathcal{R}_{\pi}$  and  $\Pi_{\gamma}(a)$  for  $a \in R_{\pi}$  approximates  $\ker D_{\sigma\pi}(a)$  arbitrarily well. For each  $(a, \xi) \in \mathcal{G}_{\pi}$  we can then define  $h \in C^e(L_m, \mathbb{R})$  by

$$h(\exp(e)) = \beta(|l|/\varepsilon) \cdot \langle \hat{\xi}, e \rangle,$$

where  $\beta$  is some cutoff function,  $l \in T_{\gamma(a)}L_m$ , and  $\hat{\xi}$  is the best approximation of  $\xi$  in  $T_{\gamma(a)}L_m$ . Now consider the section

$$\widetilde{f}: \Pi_{\gamma} \times \mathcal{B}(\Sigma) \to \mathcal{L}, \quad \widehat{f}(\widehat{n}, a) = f_{\sigma\pi}(a) + \widehat{n},$$

where we identify in notation  $\mathscr L$  with its pullback under the projection onto  $\mathscr B(M)$ . Denote by  $\widetilde{\mathscr R}$  the zero set of  $\widetilde{\mathscr L}$ . From the above, we conclude that  $\widetilde{\mathscr R}$  is a smooth Banach submanifold of  $\Pi_\gamma \times \mathscr B(M)$  near  $(0) \times \mathscr B_\pi$ . Now the proposition follows from the Sard Smale Theorem ([Sm], see also [Q]) applied to the projection  $\widetilde{\mathscr R} \times \widehat{\Pi}$ .

Let us now call  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  regular if for all  $[A] \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi} \cap \mathcal{B}_{\delta}$ , so that  $D_A$  is Fredholm with respect to  $\delta$ ,  $D_A$  is surjective. Of course, this implies by the implicit function theorem that all such sets are smooth manifolds, whose dimensions are given by Proposition 2b.2.

**Proposition 2c.2.** For any  $(\sigma, \pi) \in \Sigma \times \Pi$ , the set of all  $\pi \in \pi + \Pi$  for which  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  is regular of first category near  $\pi$ .

*Proof.* First note that it follows from Arondzajn's theorem [An] that  $\iota: \mathcal{M}(M) \to \mathcal{B}(M)$  is injective, and that the same is true for the "linearization"

$$\tilde{\iota}: \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = \{(A, \xi) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R} \times M) \mid A \in \mathcal{M}(M) \text{ and } \xi \in \operatorname{cok} D_A\} \to \mathcal{L}(M),$$
  
 $\tilde{\iota}(A, \xi) = (A(0), \xi(0)).$ 

Moreover, for subsets  $\mathcal{N} \subset \mathcal{M}(M)$  such that  $\iota \mathcal{N}$  is compact, it follows from elliptic regularity that  $\tilde{\iota}(\widetilde{\mathcal{N}})$  is compact. Now choose  $m, \gamma$  so that  $D_{\gamma}$  is injective on  $\tilde{\iota}(\mathscr{C}_{\sigma\pi})$ . For every  $(A, \xi) \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  we construct  $h_{A, \xi} \in C^{\varepsilon}(L_m, \mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\nabla h_{A,\xi}(A(\tau)) = \beta(\tau/\varepsilon)D_{\gamma}(A(\tau))\xi(\tau)$$
.

This defines h on the image of the trajectory A under  $\gamma$ ; it can be extended in an arbitrary way to the rest of  $L_m$ . Using these functions, it is easy to see that the section

$$\tilde{F}: \hat{\Pi} \times \mathscr{P}_{\delta} \rightarrow \mathscr{L}_{\delta}; \quad \tilde{F}(\hat{\pi}, A) = F_{\sigma, \pi + \hat{\pi}}(A)$$

has surjective linearizations at  $(0) \times \tilde{N}$ . Now Proposition 2c.s follows like Proposition 2c.1 from the Sard Smale Theorem.  $\square$ 

## 2d) Transitivity

It is the aim of this section to construct the gluing map # of Proposition 1c.1. The general method used here was introduced by Taubes, see e.g. [T1]. In the present form, though in a different context, it was previously used in [F1]. Consider  $a,b,c\in \mathcal{R}_{\sigma\pi}$  and choose  $\varrho$  large enough so that in the temporal gauge, we have  $A(\tau)=[b+\xi(\tau)]$  for  $\tau \ge \varrho-1$  and  $B(\tau)=[b+\xi(\tau)]$  for  $\tau \le \varrho+1$  (see Proposition 3b.1 below). Define

$$(A \ \hat{\#}_{\varrho} B)(\tau) = \begin{cases} A(\tau + \varrho) & \text{for} & \tau \leq 1 \\ [b + \beta(-\tau)\xi(\zeta + \varrho) + \beta(\tau)\xi(\tau - \varrho)] & \text{for} & -1 \leq \tau \leq 1 \\ B(\tau - \varrho) & \text{for} & \tau \geq 1 \end{cases}$$
(2d.1)

More generally, define the set  $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma\pi}^k(a,b)$  of k-trajectories as the set of k-tuples  $(A_i)_{1 \le i \le k}$  with  $A_i \in \widehat{\mathcal{M}}_{\sigma\pi}(c_{i-1},c_i)$ , where  $c_0 = a$  and  $c_k = b$ . Then we can extend the above construction to a map

$$\hat{\#} \, \hat{\mathcal{M}}^{k}(x, y) \times \mathbb{R}^{k-1} \supset K \times [\varrho(k), \infty)^{k-1} \to \mathcal{B}(x, y),$$
$$\chi = (\underline{u}, \underline{\varrho}) \mapsto A_{\chi} = (u_{1} \, \hat{\#}_{\varrho_{1}} \, u_{2}) \dots \, \hat{\#}_{\varrho_{k-1}} u_{k}.$$

It follows from Proposition 3b.1 below that for any compact  $k \in \widehat{\mathcal{M}}^k(x, y)$  there exists a constant  $C_K \in \mathbb{R}_+$  with

$$||F_{\sigma\pi}(A_{\chi})||_{p} \le C_{K} \sum_{i} e^{-\varrho_{i}/C_{K}}$$
(2d.2)

The main result of this section is

**Proposition 2d.** Let K be as above and assume that all  $A_i$  for  $\underline{A} \in K$  are regular. Then there exist positive constants  $\varrho_K$ ,  $C_K$  and a  $C^2$  map

$$K \times [\varrho_K, \infty)^{k-1} \to \widehat{\mathcal{M}}(a, c), \quad \chi \mapsto [A_{\chi} + \xi],$$

with  $\|\xi\|_{1,p} \leq C_K \sum e^{-\varrho_i/C_K}$ .

The proof of Proposition 2d uses an iterative procedure known as Picard's method. It can be summarized as follows.

**Lemma 2d.1.** Let  $f: E \rightarrow F$  be a  $C^1$  map between Banach spaces E and F. Assume that in the first order expansion

$$f(\xi) = f(0) + Df(0)\xi + N(\xi),$$

Df(0) has a finite dimensional kernel and a right inverse G so that for  $\xi, \zeta \in E$ 

$$||GN(\xi) - GN(\zeta)||_{E} \le C(||\xi||_{E} + ||\zeta||_{E}) ||\xi - \zeta||_{E}$$

for some constant C. Set  $\varepsilon = (5C)^{-1}$ . Then if  $||Gf(0)||_E \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ , there exists a  $C^1$ -function

$$\phi: K_{\varepsilon}:=\{\xi\in\ker Df(0)\,|\,\|\xi\|_{E}<\varepsilon\}\rightarrow GF\,,$$

with  $f(\xi + \phi(\xi)) = 0$  for all  $\xi \in K_{\varepsilon}$ . Moreover, we have estimates

$$\|\phi(0)\|_{E} \le 2\|Gf(0)\|_{E}, \quad \|D\phi(0)\zeta\|_{E} \le 8\|Gf(0)\|_{E}\|\zeta\|_{E}.$$

The proof of Lemma 2d.1 is an elementary application of the contraction principle. We apply it to the family of functions

$$\begin{split} & \Phi_{\chi} \colon W(A_{\chi}) \! \to \! L(A_{\chi}) \,, \\ & \Phi_{\chi}(\xi) \! = \! (F_{\sigma\pi}(A_{\chi} + \xi), d_{A_{\chi}}^{*} \xi) \! = \! F_{\sigma\pi}(A_{\chi}) + D_{A_{\chi}} \xi + N_{\chi}(\xi) \,, \end{split} \tag{2d.3}$$

where  $L = L_0$  and  $W = W_0$ , see (2b.2). The crucial step is to invert the linear part.

**Lemma 2d.2.** There exist constants C and  $\varrho$  so that if  $\chi \in K \times [\varrho, \infty)$ , then there exists a continuous right inverse  $G_{\gamma}: L \to W$  of  $L_{\gamma}$  with

$$\|G_{\chi}\xi\|_{1,p} \leq C_G \|\xi\|_p.$$

*Proof.* For the sake of clarity, we consider only the case k=2. The proof is completely analogous to the proof of Lemma 4.3 of [F1]. We therefore only sketch the main idea. First, we identify the domain on which we want to invert  $L_{\chi}$  to be an  $L^2$ -orthogonal complement of the set of all sections of  $\Omega^1_{\rm ad}(\mathbb{R}\times\Sigma)$  of the form

$$(\xi \, \hat{\#} \, \zeta)(\tau) = \begin{cases} \beta(\tau)\xi(\tau) & \text{for } \tau \ge 1\\ \beta(-\tau)\xi(\tau) & \text{for } \tau \le -1 \end{cases}$$
(2d.4)

for any  $\xi \in T_{[A]} \mathcal{M}(a,b)$  and  $\zeta \in T_{[B]} \mathcal{M}(b,c)$ . Then since the Fredholm index of  $D_{\chi}$  restricted to  $W_{\chi}^{\perp}$  is zero, it suffices to show that for all  $\xi \in W_{\chi}^{\perp}$ ,

$$\|\xi\|_{1,p} \leq C \|D_{\chi}\xi\|_{p},$$

with C depending only on K. This is done directly: Assume there exists a sequence  $\chi_{\alpha} = (A_{\alpha}, B_{\alpha}, \varrho_{\alpha}) \in K \times [\alpha, \infty)$  and  $\xi_{\alpha} \leq W_{\alpha}^{\perp}$  satisfying

$$\|\xi_{\alpha}\|_{1,p} = 1$$
,  $\|D_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}\|_{p} \to 0$ .

Here we abbreviate a double index  $\chi_{\alpha}$  by  $\alpha$ . As in the proof of Lemma 4.3 of [F1], one now proves first that  $\xi_{\alpha} \to 0$  uniformly on  $[-3,3] \times M$ . Then one can show that  $\|\xi_{\alpha}\|_{1,p} \to 0$  separately on  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \Sigma$  and  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \Sigma$  using the invertibility of  $D_A$  and  $D_B$ . This yields a contradiction to the first assumption and hence proves Lemma 2d.2.

Now the proof of Proposition 2d is completed by (2a.6). To define the orientations of Proposition 1c.1, fix  $a_0 \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$  and consider for each  $a \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$  the space  $\mathcal{B}(a_0, a)$ . By [D1], there exists a lifting of the structure map

$$D: \mathcal{B}(a_0, y) \to BO$$
,  $A \mapsto D_A$  (2d.5)

to BSO. It defines an orientation on  $\mathcal{B}(a_0, a)$  in the sense that for each  $A \in \mathcal{B}(a_0, a)$  and for each finite dimensional subspace  $E \subset \mathcal{L}(u)$  which is not annihilated by any element of  $\operatorname{cok} D_A$ , the manifold

$$\mathcal{M}_{E}(a) = \left\{ \xi \in T_{A} \mathcal{B} \mid F_{\sigma\pi}(A + \xi) \in E \right\}$$
 (2d.6)

can be naturally oriented given an orientation on E. In fact, we only have to choose a lifting on one component of  $\mathcal{B}(x_0,x)$ ; it is then defined on the other components through the constriction (1c.8) extended to  $\mathcal{M}_E$  (see also [D3] in the context of determinant bundles). We will consider such a choice of lifting as an "orientation of x." (In finite dimensional Morse theory, it corresponds to an orientation of the negative subspace of the Hessian at x.) We now extend the (unreduced) gluing map # to incorporate the spaces  $\mathcal{M}_E$ . Assuming that the elements of E have compact support, it defines a bundle  $\hat{E}$  over  $\hat{\#}$  ( $\hat{\mathcal{M}}_E(x_0,x) \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \hat{\mathcal{M}}^k(x,y)$ ). Now the proof of Proposition 2d can be easily adapted to yield local diffeomorphisms

$$#: \widehat{\mathcal{M}}_{E}(x_{0}, x) \times \mathbb{R}_{+} \times \widehat{\mathcal{M}}^{k}(x, y) \to \mathcal{M}_{E}(x_{0}, y).$$
 (2d.7)

Now there exists a unique orientation on  $\mathcal{M}(x, y)$  making this map oriented. The orientations  $\mathcal{M}(W)$  are constructed by combining the above constriction with the one in [D3] in the obvious way.

## 3. Compactness

## 3a) Local Convergence

In order to formulate compactness properties, recall the set  $\mathcal{MC}_{\sigma\pi}$  of cusp trajectories of Definition

Definition 3a.1. A cusp trajectory  $(A, \underline{I}) \in \mathcal{MC}_{\sigma\pi}$  is a trajectory  $A \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  together with a finite collection  $\underline{I}$  of instantons on Euclidean  $\mathbb{R}^4$ . We say that  $A_k$  converges (locally) to  $(A, \underline{I}) \in \mathcal{MC}_{\sigma\pi}$  if there exist representations of  $A_k$  and sequences  $x_{ik}$  in  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  and  $\varepsilon_k \to 0$  so that

- (1)  $A_k \to A$  in the  $L_1^4$ -norm on  $K \bigcup U_{\varepsilon_k}(x_{ik})$  for every compact  $K \subset \mathbb{R} \times M$ .
- (2)  $I_{ik} := (\exp_{x_k} \circ \varepsilon_k)^* A_k$  converges to  $I_i$  in  $L^p_1(\Omega^1(B_R))$  for every R > 0. Here,  $\exp_x$  for  $x \in \mathbb{R} \times M$  denotes the Gauss normal chart. Now define for any  $I \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\mathscr{B}|_{I} = \mathscr{A}(I \times M)/\mathscr{G}(I \times M)$$

and write  $\mathcal{B}|_{\varrho} = \mathcal{R}|_{[-\varrho,\varrho]}$ . With respect to the "weak convergence" of Definition 3a.1, we have the following compactness result:

**Proposition 3a.** Let  $A_{\varrho} \in \mathcal{B}|_{\varrho}$ ,  $\varrho \in \mathbb{N}$ , be a sequence so that  $l^{2}(A_{\varrho})$  is bounded. Moreover, assume that  $\sigma_{\varrho} \pi_{\varrho} \to \sigma \pi$  in  $\Sigma \times \Pi$  and that  $\lim_{\varrho \to \infty} \|F_{\sigma_{\varrho} \pi_{\varrho}}(A_{\varrho})\|_{p} = 0$ . Then there exists a subsequence  $A_{\varrho}$  converging to some  $(A, \underline{I}) \in \mathcal{MC}_{\sigma \pi}$ . We have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \|F_{B_i}\|_2^2 + l^2(A) \leq \frac{1}{2} \limsup_{\varrho \to \infty} l^2(A_{\varrho}).$$

In particular if  $l^2(A_\varrho) \leq 3\pi$ , then  $\underline{I}$  is empty and  $A_\varrho$  converges locally in  $L_1^4$  to A.

*Proof.* The essential ingredient of the proof is Uhlenbeck's elliptic regularity results for the selfduality equation, see [U1]. It remains valid for the operator  $F_{\sigma\pi}$  due to the "compactness" of the perturbation  $\pi$ .

**Lemma 3a.1.** Let  $A_\varrho$  be a sequence of connections on  $[-R, R] \times M$ , so that  $\|F_{A_k}\|_p$  is bounded and  $\|F_{\sigma\pi}(A_k)\|_p \to 0$  for some p > 2. Then  $A_\varrho$  contains a subsequence converging on  $M_{R-1}$  to a connection A with  $F_{\sigma\pi}(A) = 0$ .

*Proof.* By [U1] the bound on  $\|F_{A_k}\|_p$  implies that there exist representatives  $A_k$  so that  $\|A_k\|_{1,p}$  is bounded on  $M_{R-1/2}$ . Hence it contains a subsequence  $A_k$  converging weakly in  $E_1(\Omega^1(M_{R-1/2}))$  to some limit A. That  $F_{\sigma\pi}^-(A) = 0$  follows from the weak compactness of the nonlinear term of  $F_{\sigma\pi}^-$ , see (2a.N2). Similarly, applying (2a.N2) and ellipticity of  $D_A$  to  $\xi_k = \beta(A_k - A)$  for a suitable cutoff function  $\beta$  proves that  $\|\xi_k\|_{1,p} \to 0$ .  $\square$ 

Now define for any compact  $K \subset \mathbb{R} \times M$  the sequence of numbers

$$\varepsilon_k(K) = \inf \{ \varepsilon > 0 \mid \text{ there exists } \theta \in K \text{ so that } ||F_{A_k}||_{p,U_{\varepsilon}(\theta)} = \varepsilon^{2/p-1} \}.$$
 (3a.1)

Here,  $U_{\varepsilon}(\theta)$  is the  $\varepsilon$ -ball around  $\theta$ . If  $\varepsilon_{\alpha}(K)$  is bounded from below, then the hypothesis of Lemma 3a.1 is satisfied for each  $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . Hence let us assume that

 $\varepsilon_k(K) \to 0$  for a subsequence and choose  $\theta_k \in \times M$  so that with  $U_k = U_{\varepsilon_k}(\theta_k)$ ,

$$\int_{U_k} |F_A(\theta_k)|^p d\theta = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{2-p}.$$

Let  $\exp_{\alpha}: \mathbb{R}^4 \to \mathbb{R} \times M$  be a Gauss normal chart centered at  $\theta_{\alpha}$  preceded by multiplication with  $\varepsilon_{\alpha}$ . Then the connection  $B_{\alpha}:=\exp_{\alpha}^* A_{\alpha}$  is defined on the ball of radius  $\varepsilon_{\alpha}^{-1}r$ , if r is the injectivity radius on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$ . It satisfies

- (1)  $||p_-F_{B_k}||_4 \to 0$ ,
- (2)  $\limsup \|F_{B_k}\|_2^2 \leq l$ ,
- (3)  $||F_{B_k}||_{4,U_1(0)} = \frac{1}{2}$ ,
- (4)  $||F_{B_k}||_{4, U_1(\theta)} \le 1$  for all  $\theta \in U_{R-1}(0)$ .

The projection in (1) is taken with respect to the standard Euclidean conformal structure on  $\mathbb{R}^4$ . To prove (1), note that the pullback conformal structure under  $\exp_{\alpha}$  converges to the Euclidean one uniformly on  $B_R$ , and that the perturbation  $\pi$ is  $L^4$ -bounded. (2) follows for the same reason from the conformal invariance of the "Yang-Mills action"  $||F_A||_2^2$ . (3) and (4) follow by direct calculation. By [U1], it follows from (1) and (4) that  $B_k$  contains a subsequence converging in  $L_1^p(\Omega^1(U_{R-1}(0)))$  to a selfdual connection I. Now (3) implies that I is nontrivial, so that  $||F_B||_2^2 \ge 8\pi$  (see e.g. [ADHM]). We now repeat the above argument  $\mathbb{R} \times M - \bar{U}_k$  with  $\bar{U}_k = B_{\sqrt{\epsilon_k}}(\theta_k)$ . That is, we consider the sequence  $\varepsilon'_k \ge \varepsilon_k$  defined as in (3a.1) with  $\bar{U}_k$  removed from K. If  $\varepsilon_k \times 0$ , then the corresponding reparametrized sequence  $B'_k$  converges as before to a positively charged instanton I'. We claim that the action  $l(A_k) = a(a) - a(b)$  of the trajectory must be at least the sum of the actions of I and I'. To see this, note that  $l_k$  tends to infinity in the reparametrized chart around  $\theta_k'$ , since  $\operatorname{dist}(\theta_k, \theta_k') \ge \varepsilon_k^{1/2}$ . If also  $\operatorname{dist}(\theta_k, \theta_k')/\varepsilon_k' \to \infty$ , then the converse is also true, so that there exist disjoint neighborhoods  $V_k$  of  $\theta_k$  and  $v'_k$  of  $\theta'_k$  on which the action of  $A_k$  approaches that of I and I', respectively. On the other hand, if  $\operatorname{dist}(\theta_k, \theta_k')/\varepsilon_k'$  is bounded, then  $\varepsilon_k'/\varepsilon_k \to \infty$ , and we can choose  $V_k$  and  $V_k'$  so that the actions of  $A_k$  restricted to  $V_k$  and  $V'_k - V_k$  approach the action of I and I', respectively. By induction, we conclude that there exists a finite set  $\{\theta_1, ..., \theta_N\}$  with  $N \leq 8\pi^{-1}(a(a) - a(b))$  so that a subsequence of  $A_k$  converges locally on  $\mathbb{R} \times M$  $-\{\theta_1,...,\theta_N\}$  to an element of  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$ . This completes the proof of Proposition 3a.

#### 3b) Global Convergences

Proposition 3a allows us to prove

**Proposition 3b.1.** For each  $[A] \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma\pi}$  there exist  $a, b \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$  so that  $[A(\tau)]$  converges in  $\mathcal{B}(M)$  to a for  $\tau \to \infty$  and to b for  $\tau \to -\infty$ . Moreover, if  $\mathcal{R}_{\pi}$  is nondegenerate, then for some  $\delta > 0$ , the canonical map induces a bijection

$$\bigcup_{a,b \in R} \mathcal{M}_{\delta}(a,b) / (G_a \times G_b) \to \mathcal{M} . \tag{2b.1}$$

Here,  $G_a \times G_b$  acts on  $\mathcal{M}_{\delta}(a,b)$  by means of gauge transformations which are constant outside a compact set. Restricted to each  $\mathcal{M}_{\delta}(a,b)$ ,  $(b_{ij})$  is a homeomorphism with respect to the local topology in  $\mathcal{M}$  and the relative topology of  $\mathcal{M}_{\delta}(a,b)$  in  $\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(a,b)$ .

Proposition 3b.1 implies that whenever the local limit of Proposition 3a happens to lie in  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$ , the convergence is global. Of course, this assumption is

very strong. To define the set of all possible "global" limits, we have to combine the notion of a k-trajectory of Sect. 2 with the notion of a cusp trajectory. We therefore define the set  $\hat{\mathcal{M}}\mathscr{C}^k_{\sigma\pi}(a,b)$  of k-cusp-trajectories joining a and b as the set of  $(A_i,\underline{I})_{1\leq i\leq k}$  with  $(A_i,\underline{I}_i)\in\hat{\mathcal{M}}\mathscr{C}_{\sigma\pi}(c_{i-1},c_i)$  with  $c_0=a,\ c_{2k}=b,$  and  $c_{2i+1}=c_{2i}$  for  $0\leq i\leq k$ . We say that  $A_\varrho$  converges to  $(A_i,\underline{I}_i)_{1\leq i\leq k}\in\mathscr{M}\mathscr{C}^k_\sigma(a,b)$  if there exist sequences  $\tau_{i\varrho}$  so that  $\tau_{ik}*A_\varrho=A_\varrho(\cdot-\tau_{i\varrho})$  converges weakly to  $(A_i,\underline{I}_i)$ . Then we have

**Proposition 3b.2.** Let  $\sigma_\varrho \pi_\varrho$  converge to  $\sigma \pi$  in  $\Sigma \times \Pi$  and let  $a_\varrho$ ,  $b_\varrho \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi_\varrho}$  converge to a,b in  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ . Then for any sequence  $[A_\varrho] \in \mathcal{M}_{\sigma_\varrho \pi_\varrho}(a_\varrho,b_\varrho)$  with constant index  $I(A_\varrho) = I$ , there exists a subsequence converging to some  $(B_i,\underline{I}_i) \in \mathcal{MC}^k_{\sigma\pi}(a,b)$  for some  $k \geq 0$ . Moreover, we have

$$l^{2}(A_{\varrho}) \ge \frac{1}{2} \sum l^{2}(B_{i}) + 8\pi \sum_{i} n(I_{j}).$$

If a and b are nondegenerate, then

$$I = \sum_{i} I(B_i) + 8 \sum_{j} n(I_j).$$

If I is trivial, then there exists N>0 so that for  $\varrho>N$ ,  $A_\varrho$  is contained in the  $\varepsilon$ -tube

$$\mathscr{U}_{\varepsilon}(\underline{B}) = \bigcup_{i} \bigcup_{\tau \in \mathbb{R}} \mathscr{U}_{\varepsilon}(B_{i}(\tau); \mathscr{B}(M)).$$

Finally, if each  $B_i$  is a regular zero of  $F_{\sigma\pi}$ , and all representations involved are irreducible, then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  so that each  $A \in \mathcal{M}(a,b)$  which is fully contained in  $\mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}(B)$  is the image of the gluing map # of Proposition 2d.

*Proof of Proposition 3b.1.* To prove the first assertion, we assume the contrary. Then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  and a sequence  $\tau_k \to \infty$  so that the sequence  $[A(\tau_k)]$  in  $\mathcal{B}(\Sigma)$  does not accumulate at  $\mathcal{B}$ . Now consider the sequence

$$A_k(\tau, x) = A(\tau - \tau_k/2)$$

on  $[-\tau_k/2, \tau_k/2] \times M$ . It satisfies the hypothesis of Proposition 3a with  $\lim_{k \to \infty} l(A_k) = 0$ . Hence  $A_k$  converges locally to constant element of  $\mathscr{M}$ , which contradicts the assumption. By the same method, one can prove that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists r > 0 so that on  $[r, \infty) \times M$ , we have  $[A] = [a + \xi]$  with  $\|\xi\|_{\infty} < \varepsilon$  and  $\|\xi|_{[\varrho,\varrho+1]}\|_{1,p} < \varepsilon$  for all  $\varrho > r$ . To prove an exponential decay estimate, we work in the "temporal" gauge, i.e. we choose a representative  $A \in \Omega^1_{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R} \times M)$  which

vanishes on the vector  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau}$ . Now define  $\beta_{\sigma}(\tau) = \beta(\tau - \theta + 1)\beta(-\tau + \sigma)$  and consider the function  $f(\sigma) = \|\beta_{\sigma}(A - \hat{a})\|_{2}^{2}$ . We prove an estimate of the form

$$f''(\tau) \ge \mu f(\tau),$$
 (2b.2)

for some  $\mu > 0$ . It then follows e.g. from the maximum principle that  $||A - a||_{2,\delta} < \infty$  on the half cylinder on which  $A(\tau)$  converges to a. To prove (2b.2), we calculate

$$f''(\tau) = \int \beta^{2}(\tau) \left\{ \|A'(\tau)\|_{2}^{2} + \langle A''(\tau), A(\tau) - a \rangle \right\} d\tau$$

$$= \int \beta^{2}(\tau) \|A(\tau)\|_{2}^{2} d\tau$$

$$+ \int \beta^{2}(\tau) \langle A(\tau) - a \rangle D_{f}(A(\tau)) A(\tau) d\tau. \qquad (2b.3)$$

Note that  $\frac{d}{d\tau} d_a^*(A(\tau) - a) = d_a^* f(A(\tau)) = 0$ , so that  $A(\tau) - a \in T_a \mathcal{B}(M)$  for all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . To estimate the second term, note that with  $D_\tau = Df(A(\tau))$ ,

$$\langle (A(\tau)-a), D_{\tau} \not f(A(\tau)) \rangle = \langle D_{\tau}^{+}(A(\tau)-a), D_{\tau}(A(\tau)-a) \rangle + \langle D_{\tau}^{+}(A(\tau)-a), N(A(\tau)-a) \rangle,$$

where N is the nonlinear term in the first order expansion of f around a. Since  $D_{\tau}$  has no purely imaginary eigenvalues, the first term is positive. The nonlinear term can be estimated as follows.

$$\langle D_{\tau}^{+}(A(\tau)-a), N(A(\tau)-a) \rangle \leq C \|(A(\tau)-a)\|_{\infty} \|A(\tau)-a\|_{1,2} \|D_{\tau}^{+}(A(\tau)-a)\|_{2}^{2}$$
  
  $\leq \varepsilon(\tau) \|A(\tau)-a\|_{1,2}^{2}$ 

with  $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \varepsilon(\tau) = 0$ .

Since a is a nondegenerate zero of f, we have  $||f(A(\tau))||_2 \ge \gamma ||(A(\tau) - a||_{1,2}^2$  for some  $\gamma > 0$ . Hence for  $\tau$  large enough, the nonlinear term is small compared with the first term of (2b.3). This implies the second order inequality (2b.2).

Using the invertibility of  $D_{a\leftarrow}$  [see (2b.5)], we can strengthen this result to conclude that  $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} e^{\delta \tau} \|\beta_{\tau}(A-\hat{a})\|_{1.p} = 0$  for some  $\delta > 0$ . Now define  $\beta_{rR}(\tau) = \beta(\tau - R)\beta(-\tau - r)$  and  $A_{rR} = \hat{a} + \beta_{rR}(A-\hat{a}) = \hat{a} + \xi_{rR}$ . Consider the expansion (2a.5) around  $\hat{a}$ :

$$F_{\sigma\pi}(A_{rR}) = DF_{\sigma\pi}(\hat{a})\xi_{rR} + N(\beta_{rR}(A - \hat{a})).$$

Then since  $d_{\hat{a}}^*(A - \hat{a}) = 0$ , we have by (2a.7) and (2b.5),

$$\begin{split} &\|\xi_{rR}\|_{1,\,p;\,\delta} \leq C \|D_{\hat{a}}\xi_{rR}\|_{p;\,\delta} \leq C (\|N(\xi_{rR})\|_{p;\,\delta} + \|F_{\,\sigma\pi}(A_{rR})\|_{p;\,\delta} \\ &\leq \varepsilon(r) \, \|\xi_{rR}\|_{1,\,p;\,\delta} + C \end{split}$$

with  $\lim_{r\to\infty} \varepsilon(r) = 0$  by the above. For r large enough, this yields an estimate on  $\|\xi_{rR}\|_{1,p;\delta}$  which does not depend on R. Hence  $A \in \mathscr{A}_{\delta}(x,y)$ .

The same method can be used to compare the topology on  $\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(a,b)$  with the local topology on  $\mathcal{M}(a,b)$ . To prove injectivity, let us assume that  $A,B\in\mathcal{A}_{\delta}$  are selfdual and that B=g(A) for some  $g\in L^4_{2;\,\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}\times M,SU_2)$ . We have to show that  $g\in\mathcal{G}_{\delta}\times G_a\times G_b$ . Note that on the positive half cylinder, we have  $A-\hat{a},B-\hat{a}\in L^4_{1;\,\delta}$ , where  $\hat{a}$  is the constant connection. Then

$$g\hat{a} - ag + dg = \{g(A) - g(A - \hat{a})g^{-1}\}g$$

is in  $L_{0;\delta}(\Omega^1)$ . If we consider the left-hand side as an (overdetermined) translationally invariant elliptic operator applied to a function  $g: \mathbb{R} \times M \to \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^2)$ , the theory of [LM] and [MP] (see Sect. 2b) implies that  $g-g_0 \in L_{1;\delta}(\mathbb{R} \times M, \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^2))$  for some  $g_0 \in G_a$ . Repeating the procedure proves that  $g \in \mathcal{G}_\delta \times G_a \times G_b$  and therefore completes the proof of Proposition 3b.1.  $\square$ 

*Proof of Proposition 3b.2.* The first assertion follows from an iterative argument, applying Proposition 3a and 3b.1 to suitably rescaled sequences. The index formula follows from Proposition 2b.2. The estimate on  $l^2$  follows from (1c.4). The assertion about the  $\varepsilon$ -tube is proved indirectly: Assume there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  and a

subsequence  $A_{\varrho}$  so that  $A_{\varrho}(\tau_{\varrho}) \notin U_{\varepsilon}(\underline{B})$  for some  $\tau_{\varrho} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then by Proposition 3a, there exists a subsequence  $A_{\varrho}$  converging to some  $A_{\infty} \in \mathcal{M}_{J\pi}$  which is not identical with any of the  $B_i$ . This contradicts the assumption.

To prove the last assertion, we define numbers  $s_i \in \mathbb{R}$  so that  $\alpha(A(s_i)) = \alpha(b_i)$  for  $1 \le i < k$ . It then follows from Proposition 3a that if  $A \in \mathcal{M}(a, b)$  is contained in  $U_{\varepsilon}(\underline{B})$  and  $\varepsilon$  is small enough, A is  $L_1^4$ -close to  $\hat{\#}(B_i, \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_i + \sigma_{i+1}))$ . Now the last assertion of Proposition 3b.2 follows from the uniqueness property of Lemma 2d.1.  $\square$ 

Acknowledgements. As mentioned before, the idea of applying  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R} \times M)$  to the topology of M is due to C. Taubes, together with the main analytical tools. The author is also grateful to M. F. Atiyah for many interesting discussions and to S. K. Donaldson, who e.g. suggested the approach to orientability of Sect. 2d.

#### References

- [Ad] Adams, R.A.: Sobolev spaces. New York: Academic Press 1975
- [Ar] Arondzajn, N.: A unique continuation theorem for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations or inequalities of the second order. J. Math. Pures Appl. 36 (9), 235–249 (1957)
- [A1] Atiyah, M.F.: Instantons in two and four dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. 93, 437–451 (1984)
- [A2] Atiyah, M.F.: New invariants for 3- and 4-dimensional manifolds. Preprint 1987
- [ADHM] Atiyah, M.F., Drinfield, V., Hitchin, N., Manin, Y.I.: Construction of instantons. Phys. Lett. A 65, 185 (1978)
- [AS1] Atiyah, M.F., Singer, I.M.: The index of elliptic operators. I. Ann. Math. **87**, 484–530 (1968); III. Ibid. **87**, 546–604 (1968)
- [AS2] Atiyah, M.F.: Index theory of skew adjoint Fredholm operators. Publ. Math. IHES 37, 305–325 (1969)
- [B] Braam, P.: Monopoles on three-manifolds, preprint, Oxford, 1987
- [D1] Donaldson, S.K.: An application of gauge theory to the topology of 4-manifolds. J. Differ. Geom. 18, 269–316 (1983)
- [D2] Donaldson, S.K.: Instantons and geometric invariant theory
- [D3] Donaldson, S.K.: The orientation of Yang-Mills moduli-spaces and four manifold topology. J. Differ. Geom. **26**, 397-428 (1987)
- [D4] Donaldson, S.K.: Polynomial invariants for smooth 4-manifolds. Preprint, Oxford, 1987
- [FS] Fintushel, R., Stern, R.J.: Pseudofree orbifolds. Ann. Math. 122, 335–346 (1985)
- [F1] Floer, A.: Morse theory for Lagrangian intersections. J. Differ. Geom. (to appear)
- [F2] Floer, A.: The unregularized gradient flow for the symplectic action. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. (to appear)
- [F3] Floer, A.: Symplectic fixed points and holomorphic spheres. Preprint, CIMS, 1988
- [FU] Freed, D., Uhlenbeck, K.K.: Instantons and four-manifolds. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer 1984
- [G] Goldman, W.: The symplectic nature of the fundamental groups of surfaces. Adv. Math. 54, 200–225 (1984)
- [He] Hempel, J.: Three-manifolds. Ann. of Math. Studies 86. Princeton, NJ: Princeton, University Press 1967
- [Hö] Hörmander, L.: The analysis of linear differential operators. III. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer 1985
- [Hu] Husemoller, D.: Fibre bundles. Springer Graduate Texts in Math., Vol. 20. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer 1966

[K] Kondrat'ev, V.A.: Boundary value problems for elliptic equations in domains with conical or angular points. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc. 16 (1967)

- [LM] Lockhard, R.B., McOwen, R.C.: Elliptic operators on noncompact manifolds. Ann. Sci. Norm. Sup. Pisa IV-12, 409–446 (1985)
- [Mc] Matic, G.: SO(3) connections and rational homology cobordism. Preprint, MIT, 1987
- [MP] Maz'ja, V.G., Plamenevski, B.A.: Estimates on *U* and Hölder classes and the Miranda-Agmon maximum principle for solutions of elliptic boundary problems in domains with singular points on the boundary. Math. Nachr. **81**, 25–82 (1978) [English Transl. In: AMS Translations Ser. 2, **123**, 1–56 (1984)
- [Mr] Milnor, J.: Lectures on the *h*-cobordism theorem. Math. Notes. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press 1965
- [N] Novikov, S.P.: Multivalued functions and functionals, an analogue of Morse theory. Sov. Math. Dokl. **24**, 222–226 (1981)
- [P] Palais, R.S.: Foundations of global analysis. New York: Benjamin 1968
- [Q] Quinn, F.: Transversal approximation on Banach manifolds. In: Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 15. Providence, RI: AMS 1970
- [RS] Ray, D.B., Singer, I.M.: *R*-torsion and the Laplacian on Riemannian manifolds. Adv. Math. 7, 145–201 (1971)
- [S1] Smale, S.: Morse inequalities for dynamical systems. Bull. AMS 66, 43–49 (1960)
- [S2] Smale, S.: On gradient dynamical systems. Ann. Math. 74, 199–206 (1961)
- [S3] Smale, S.: An infinite dimensional version of Sard's theorem. Am. J. Math. 87, 213–221 (1973)
- [Sp] Spanier, E.: Algebraic topology. New York: McGraw-Hill 1966
- [T1] Taubes, C.H.: Self-dual Yang-Mills connections on non-self-dual 4-manifolds. J. Differ. Geom. 17, 139–170 (1982)
- [T2] Taubes, C.H.: Gauge theory on asymptotically periodic 4-manifolds. J. Differ. Geom. **25**, 363–430 (1987)
- [T3] Taubes, C.H.: Private communication
- [T4] Taubes, C.H.: A framework for Morse theory for the Yang-Mills functional. Preprint, Harvard, 1986
- [T5] Taubes, C.H.: Preprint, 1987
- [U1] Uhlenbeck, K.K.: Removable singularities in Yang-Mills fields. Commun. Math. Phys. 83, 11–29 (1982)
- [U2] Uhlenbeck, K.K.: Connections with *U*-bounds on curvature. Commun. Math. Phys. **83**, 31–42 (1982)
- [W1] Witten, E.: Supersymmetry and Morse theory. J. Differ. Geom. 17, 661–692 (1982)
- [W2] Witten, E.: Topological quantum field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 117, 353–386 (1988)

Communicated by A. Jaffe

Received May 3, 1988